
 
 
 
 
  

 

 
 

 
                           

MEETING AGENDA 

HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
Wednesday, March 1, 2023 

6:30 p.m. 
MEMORIAL HALL – MEMORIAL BUILDING 

19 East Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 
 (Tentative & Subject to Change) 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. ROLL CALL  

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – February 1, 2023 
 
4. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

a) Case HPC-01-2023 – Consideration of Properties for Inclusion on the Historically 
Significant Structures Property List in the Historic Overlay District (Continued from 
February 1, 2023) 
 

5. PUBLIC MEETINGS 
a) Case HPC-3-2022 – 20 E. Maple Street – Hinsdale Public Library – Application for a 

Certificate of Appropriateness for a Designated Local Landmark to allow for the 
Replacement of Windows and an Entrance Door on the Memorial Building 
 

b) Case HPC-2-2023 – 225 E. First Street – Preliminary Application for a Certificate of 
Appropriateness to Demolish a Single-Family Home and to Construct a New Single-
Family Home in the Robbins Park Historic District 
 

6. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

7. NEW BUSINESS 
 

8. OLD BUSINESS 
a) Amendments to Title 14 – Status Update 
b) Village of Hinsdale 150th Anniversary Celebration  
c) Robbins Park Historic District Gateway Signs 
d) February 27 - 7:00-8:30PM - Hinsdale Library - Community Conversations: Historic 

Preservation Incentives  
 
9. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
Public comments are welcome on any topic related to the business of the Commission at Regular and 
Special Meetings during the portion of the meeting devoted to a particular agenda item, or during the period 
designated for public comment for non-agenda items. Individuals who wish to comment must be recognized 
by the Chairperson and then speak at the podium, beginning by identifying themselves by name and 
address. Matters on this Agenda may be continued from time to time without further notice, except as 
otherwise required under the Illinois Open Meetings Act. 
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The Village of Hinsdale is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. 
Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting and who require certain accommodations in 
order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the 
accessibility of the meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact Andrianna Peterson, ADA Coordinator 
at 630-789-7005 promptly to allow the Village of Hinsdale to make reasonable accommodations for 
those persons. Additional information may be found on the Village’s website at 
www.villageofhinsdale.org

http://www.villageofhinsdale.org/


VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
Wednesday, February 1, 2023 

 
The regularly scheduled meeting of the Village of Hinsdale Historic Preservation Commission was called to 
order by Chairman Bohnen in Memorial Hall of the Memorial Building, 19 E. Chicago Avenue, Hinsdale, IL 
on Wednesday, February 1, 2023 at 6:37 p.m., roll call was taken.   

 
PRESENT: Commissioners Shannon Weinberger, Frank Gonzalez, Alexis Braden, William 

Haarlow, Jim Prisby and Chairman John Bohnen 
 
ABSENT:  Commissioner Sarah Barclay 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Bethany Salmon, Village Planner and Robert McGinnis, Director of Community 

Development 
 
Approval of Minutes – January 4, 2023 
Chairman Bohnen asked for comments on the draft of the January 4, 2023 Historic Preservation Commission 
meeting minutes.  No comments were heard.   
 
Commissioner Weinberger made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Prisby, to approve the draft meeting 
minutes of the January 4, 2023 Historic Preservation Commission meeting minutes as submitted.  The 
motion carried with a roll call vote of 6-0 as follows: 
 
            AYES: Commissioners Weinberger, Gonzalez, Braden, Haarlow, Prisby and Chairman 

Bohnen 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioner Barclay 
 
Public Hearings  
a) Case HPC-01-2023 – Consideration of Properties for Inclusion on the Historically Significant 

Structures Property List in the Historic Overlay District  
Please refer to Attachment 1 for the transcript for Public Hearing Case HPC- 01-2023 
Chairman Bohnen asked for any public comments before beginning the public hearing.  No comments were 
shared.   
Commissioner Weinberger made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Braden, to open the Public 
Hearing for Case HPC-01-2023 – Consideration of Properties for Inclusion on the Historically Significant 
Structures Property List in the Historic Overlay District.  The motion carried with a roll call vote of 6-0 as 
follows:   
            AYES: Commissioners Weinberger, Gonzalez, Braden, Haarlow, Prisby and Chairman 

Bohnen 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioner Barclay 
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Chairman Bohnen stated that the Commission would consider all of the properties proposed for inclusion on 
the list and asked members of the audience to stand and be sworn in if they wish to speak.  No audience 
members were sworn in.   
Ms. Salmon provided a brief overview of the case and the review process required by Village Code.  A brief 
overview of the information provided in the packet was also shared.   
As requested by Commissioner Haarlow, Ms. Salmon provided an overview of the Historic Overlay District 
for the record and the historic preservation incentives offered through the program. Ms. Salmon added that 
the Historical Society has helped provide additional information on some of the properties for the 
Commission to utilize where needed. 
Chairman Bohnen asked for questions or comments.  Commissioner Weinberger acknowledged the effort 
put forth by Ms. Salmon.  It was shared that the packet of information on the proposed properties is available 
online.  No further comments were shared.   
Commissioner Weinberger made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Braden, to close the Public 
Hearing for Case HPC-01-2023 – Consideration of Properties for Inclusion on the Historically Significant 
Structures Property List in the Historic Overlay District.  The motion carried with a roll call vote of 6-0 as 
follows:   
            AYES: Commissioners Weinberger, Gonzalez, Braden, Haarlow, Prisby and Chairman 

Bohnen 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioner Barclay 
 
Chairman Bohnen stated that the evaluation of each property for inclusion would be discussed by the 
Commission.  Ms. Salmon explained that she will state each property address for the HPC to deliberate.  
The Commissioners will be asked to state at least one criteria item for inclusion for each property, discussion 
would follow for each, and one mass motion and vote take place for a group of properties.  Ms. Salmon 
explained that specific properties could be pulled out from the mass motion and voted on individually if 
needed.   
Ms. Salmon introduced each proposed property for the list and the Commission briefly discussed the 
appropriate criteria item to qualify the property for inclusion.  The public hearing transcript detailing the 
discussion on each property is included in Attachment 1.   
Of note, 309 E. Chicago Avenue was discussed to some length and the Commission agreed further 
information on the property was needed to determine if the property met the criteria for eligibility on the List.  
It was determined that 309 E. Chicago would not be included in the mass motion and will be revisited at a 
future meeting where more detailed information can be provided and discussed.   
It was decided that 239 E. Walnut St. would be considered for inclusion in a separate motion from the other 
addresses due to the fact it is owned by Commissioner Weinberger who would recuse herself from the vote.   
Commissioner Weinberger made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Prisby, to recommend to the Village 
Board approval of the following properties for inclusion on the Historically Significant Structures Property List 
in the Historic Overlay District under Case HPC-01-2023 [the property list was read aloud by Ms. Salmon 
excluding 309 E. Chicago Avenue and 239 E. Walnut Street – See Attachment 1]:  122 S. Adams Street, 25 
E. Ayres Street, 46 S. County Line Road, 121 S. County Line Road, 505 S. County Line Road, 644 S. County 
Line Road, 5901 S. County Line Road, 24 E. Eighth Street, 209 N. Elm Street, 425 S. Elm Street, 740 S. 
Elm Street, 33 E. Fifth Street, 132 E. Fifth Street, 145 E. Fifth Street, 317 E. First Street, 131 N. Garfield 
Avenue, 518 S. Garfield Avenue, 217 W. Hickory Street, 111 N. Lincoln Street, 510 N. Lincoln Street, 307 
S. Lincoln Street, 515 S. Lincoln Street, 833 S. Lincoln Street, 807 McKinley Lane, 23 S. Oak Street, 35 S. 
Oak Street, 711 S. Oak Street, 728 S. Oak Street, 420 S. Park Avenue, 640 S. Park Avenue, 420 E. Seventh 
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Street, 138 E. Sixth Street, 222 E. Sixth Street, 114 S. Stough Street, 701 Taft Road, 810 Taft Road, 148 
The Lane, 222 E. Third Street, 417 E. Third Street, 433 E. Third Street, 434 E. Third Street, 605 E. Third 
Street, 132 N. Vine Street, 640 N. Washington Street, 711 S. Washington Street. The motion carried with a 
roll call vote of 6-0 as follows:   
            AYES: Commissioners Weinberger, Gonzalez, Braden, Haarlow, Prisby and Chairman 

Bohnen 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioner Barclay 
 
Commissioner Braden made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Haarlow, to recommend to the Village 
Board approval of 239 E. Walnut Street for inclusion on the Historically Significant Structures Property List 
in the Historic Overlay District under Case HPC-01-2023.  The motion carried with a roll call vote of 5-0 as 
follows:   
            AYES: Commissioners Gonzalez, Braden, Haarlow, Prisby and Chairman Bohnen 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: Commissioner Weinberger 
 ABSENT: Commissioner Barclay 
 
Commissioner Braden made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Weinberger, to continue the public 
hearing for Case HPC-01-2023 for consideration of 309 E. Chicago Avenue listed in the public hearing 
notice for inclusion on the Historically Significant Structures Property List in the Historic Overlay District 
to the next regular Historic Preservation Commission on March 1, 2023.  The motion carried with a roll 
call vote of 6-0 as follows:   
             AYES: Commissioners Weinberger, Gonzalez, Braden, Haarlow, Prisby and Chairman 

Bohnen 
 NAYS:  None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT: Commissioner Barclay 
 
Public Comment 
No public comments were shared.   
 
New Business  
Ms. Salmon provided information on an upcoming event at the Hinsdale Library on February 27, 2023 at 
7:00 p.m. Ms. Salmon stated that the Community Conversations topic discussed will be Historic Preservation 
Incentives and Chairman Bohnen, Commissioner Braden, and Robb McGinnis will be in attendance.  
Members of the community are invited to take part in a dialogue about participation and incentives offered 
as part of the Historic Overlay District.   
 
Old Business 
a) Amendments to Title 14 – Status Update 
Ms. Salmon reported that in addition to the motions approved tonight, she is working on the next list of 
proposed properties.  Ms. Salmon stated that she will reach out to owners of landmarked homes, Zook 
homes, homes who received plaques from the Historical Society, and homes on the Mary Sterling Map.  
Approximately 10-15 property owners have requested to be part of the next list for consideration.   
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Commissioner Braden stated the Historical Society Plaque Program will continue to promote the Village’s 
Historic Overlay District Program. 
Commissioner Weinberger asked how homes can be added to the list.  Ms. Salmon stated that if 
Commissioners have properties in mind that they would like to see included, they can send her the 
address and she would reach out to the owners.   
As an addition to New Business, Commissioner Braden shared with the Commission that she applied to 
include 505 S. County Line Rd on the Landmarks of Illinois Most Endangered Structures List.  
Commissioner Braden, Ms. Salmon and Mr. McGinnis were all part of a conference call as part of the 
second round of the process and made a case to include the property.  It is hopeful that although the list 
rarely includes residential properties, that 505 S. County Line would be included when the list publishes 
in May of 2023.   
Chairman Bohnen asked for an update on the Title 14 covenant re-write.  Ms. Salmon responded that as 
soon as all of the administrative tasks are completed with the first property list of the Overlay District, 
discussion can continue on the topic.   
 
b)  Village of Hinsdale 150th Anniversary Celebration 
Ms. Salmon reported that a logo was created that will begin being very visible in the near future and input 
has been gathered for the creation of a plaza outside of Memorial Hall.  The HPC would review the 
potential plaza or roof railing on Memorial Hall.  Ms. Salmon reported that planning for some special 
events, such as the Fourth of July, has begun as well as the possibility of highlighting a specific home 
every month to promote the Historic Preservation Incentives.  More information will be shared with the 
Commission in the future as it becomes available.   
Further discussion took place about highlighting some of the oldest properties, residential and some in 
the downtown area, as part of the 150th Celebration with social media posts.  
Commissioner Braden shared that the Historical District is having an exhibit that opens Thursday, April 
20, 2023 and runs through the following Sunday.  Interested sponsors are asked to contact the Historical 
Society.   
Commissioner Weinberger shared that the Garden Club is also doing a display for the 150th at the Library 
in June.   
 
c) Robbins Park Historic Gateway Signs 
Ms. Salmon reported no update on the gateway signs.  The funds are in the budget but the best process 
forward for installation is still being evaluated.   
 
d) Case HPC-07-2022 – 701 Taft Road – Application for Local Landmark Designation  
Ms. Salmon confirmed that some amendment language was added to the ordinance for the landmark 
designation to address the concerns with the brick wall.  The language states that the brick wall is 
architecturally significant and that any future changes to the portion of the brick wall on the 701 Taft 
property will require a certificate of appropriateness.  Ms. Salmon stated however that the portion of the 
brick wall on the neighboring property could not be landmarked.  From discussions with the developer of 
the neighboring property, Ms. Salmon believes there is no plans to remove the wall but perhaps alter the 
curved portion of it.   
Chairman Bohnen acknowledged the tremendous amount of effort Ms. Salmon put into the Historic 
Overlay District and expressed appreciation for the providing the tools needed for the Commission to 
move forward in the process.   
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Commissioner Haarlow inquired about the possibility of land marking the brick streets of Sixth Street 
between Garfield and County Line and First Street between Park and County Line.  Commissioner 
Haarlow suggested that other portions of streets could be included and that he believes brick streets 
meet at least eleven (11) of the sixteen (16) land mark criteria.  He stated that this would be an appropriate 
time to land mark because Sixth St. is scheduled to be part of the road program next year.  The 
Commission expressed support for the idea of preserving the brick streets and Commissioner Haarlow 
asked staff to assist with the process of land marking Village owned streets.    
Chairman Bohnen asked if there are storm sewers under Sixth St.  Mr. McGinnis stated he is not sure if 
there are storm sewers currently or if there is a plan is to separate the sewers.  He will check into the 
question and report back.   
Commissioner Haarlow stated that he believed that the only storm sewers locations were at the 
intersections and that the sanitary sewer line under the street was constructed in the 1940s.  Further 
discussion took place about sanitary and storm sewers on First St.   
Chairman Bohnen shared information about a study done in the past on asphalt versus brick streets that 
involved Washington St. north of the train tracks.  Chairman Bohnen stated that the study supported the 
initial higher cost of brick for the lower maintenance costs over the long lifespan.  He added it not only 
improves the area aesthetically but also makes financial sense 
Ms. Salmon stated she is unfamiliar with the process of land marking right of ways and will look into the 
matter further, especially how it relates to the Village Code.   
Chairman Bohnen suggested that the topic is also timely because of the opportunity to amend Title 
Fourteen (14), if needed, could be done.   
Chairman Gonzalez suggested the specifications of pavers was provided by the Engineering companies 
as part of previous projects. Commissioner Gonzalez suggested that these specifications could be used 
as a secondary source for the longevity of pavers.   
Further discussion took place about gathering as much useful information from past studies and projects 
to be well prepared for future discussions related to preservation of brick streets.   
 
Adjournment 
Commissioner Weinberger made a motion, seconded by Commissioner Braden, to adjourn the regularly 
meeting of the Village of Hinsdale Historic Preservation Commission meeting of February 1, 2023. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:11 p.m. after a unanimous voice vote of 6-0. 
 

 
ATTEST:  _________________________________________ 

                 Jennifer Spires, Community Development Office 
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  SS:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

        BEFORE THE VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
       HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

IN THE MATTER OF:           )
                            )
                            )
HPC-01-2023,                )
Consideration of Properties )
for Inclusion on the        )
Historically Significant    )
Structures Property List in )
the Historic Overly         )
District.                   )  

         REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS had and testimony 

taken at the Public Hearing of the above- 

entitled matter before the Hinsdale Historic 

Preservation Commission, on the 1st day of 

February, 2023, at 6:30 p.m.

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:

     MR. JOHN BOHNEN, Chairman;

     MS. ALEXIS BRADEN, Member;

     MR. BILL HAARLOW, Member;

     MR. FRANK GONZALEZ, Member; 

     MS. SHANNON WEINBERGER, Member; and 

     MR. JIM PRISBY, Member.    
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ALSO PRESENT:1
         MS. BETHANY SALMON, Village Planner;2
         MR. ROBB McGINNIS, Director of3
             Community Development.

________________________________________________4

5
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Call Public Hearing6

Case No. HPC-01-2023, consideration of7
properties for inclusion on the historically8
significant structures property list in the9
historic overlay district.06:41PM 10

Do we have a motion to open the11
public hearing?12

MS. WEINBERGER:  I move to open the13
Public Hearing for Case HPC-01-202314
consideration of properties for inclusion on the15
historically significant structures property16
list in the historic overlay district.17

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Second, please.18
MS. BRADEN:  I second.19
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Roll call vote,06:42PM 20

please.21
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Weinberger?22

3

         MS. WEINBERGER:  Aye.1
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Gonzalez?2
MR. GONZALEZ:  Aye.3
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Braden?4
MS. BRADEN:  Aye.5
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Haarlow?6
MR. HAARLOW:  Aye.7
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Prisby?8
MR. PRISBY:  Aye.9

         MS. SALMON:  Chairman Bohnen?06:42PM 10
         CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Aye.  The motion11
carries.12

During the public hearing we will13
consider all of the various properties proposed14
for inclusion on the historically significant15
structures property list in the historic overlay16
district.  If anyone in the audience wishes to17
speak on this matter in general or regarding18
any particular property on the list, please19
stand, raise your right hand and be sworn in.06:42PM 20

(No response.)21
Hearing none, we will proceed.22

4

Staff overview, please.1
MS. SALMON:  So we are here tonight to2

review our first historically significant3
structures property list.  We have a total of 474
properties that are going to be considered5
tonight, 7 of which are in Cook county and 40 of6
which are in DuPage county.  All of these7
properties are in our currently established8
historic overlay district and the property9
owners have given consent to be on this list.06:43PM 10

The packet includes a couple of11
materials.  The first is some background12
information and summary information and we have13
a complete table that shows all 47 properties,14
that's Exhibit No. 4.  It kind of shows an15
overview of all of the individual sheets that16
are in your package and these kind of include a17
summary sheet with a current photo that talks18
about the basic overview of the architect, dates19
constructed, the architectural style, zoning06:43PM 20
district, parcel number, address, and then if we21
had any past historic surveys on file with the22

5

village.1
The village did surveys of select2

areas anywhere from 1999 to the late 2000 and so3
if we have already had a historic preservation4
consultant do a review on these properties, that5
information was included at that bottom of that6
first summary sheet where it talks about which7
survey it was and how they rated it.8

One of the other things that's in9
here is in Exhibit No. 2 there's a definition06:44PM 10
page for what those ratings mean.  So,11
obviously, significant is something very12
significant, that's the highest level of rating13
that we generally have and then there's a lot14
more details in Exhibit No. 2 if you want to go15
into it.16

If something is historically17
significant, there's some more historic value18
for it.  There are also, you know, it could be19
contributing, meaning that maybe on its own06:44PM 20
that's something where it's not -- maybe it's21
landmarked status or of the highest level of22
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architectural merit that it possibly could be1
but it contributes to an overall possible2
historic district so it's not saying that if you3
are contributing, you are still important4
historically.5

And then it will also note anything6
else.  There's a couple of cases here where we7
got some extra information on homes that we had8
readily available where the historical society9
helped us or some of these houses are also06:45PM 10
proposed landmarks so those applications are in11
here as well.12

And then for the procedures for13
tonight, because we have 47 properties, which is14
quite a bit to review, we will kind of go15
through each of these as the packet has them and16
we want to identify at least one criteria.  At17
this point, you don't get extra credit if you18
get five criteria and some of these houses might19
actually meet all the criteria but we only need06:45PM 20
to identify one for the purposes of the meeting21
and we do have quite a few properties.22

7

So with that, if there's no1
questions, and I know we had a member of the2
audience but I don't think she wants to speak.3
Okay.  Just checking.4

So what we can do is we can just5
dive right into going -- have the commissioners6
go through these one by one and then if there's7
any questions, we can assess them along the way.8
And then after we review everything, we can go9
through the motions.06:46PM 10

MR. HAARLOW:  Bethany, can you just,11
for the record, orally define what constitutes12
the historic overlay district.13

MS. SALMON:  Yes.  So back in September14
of last year, as you guys remember, it took us a15
year and a half to establish our new historic16
overlay district.  That amendment went into our17
village code and it also went into our zoning18
code, which basically established a new overlay19
district, and allows the village to provide a06:46PM 20
suite of historic preservation incentives.21

The reason we have it in our zoning22

8

code is we are providing some alternative zoning1
relief.  So that could be waiving of floor area2
ratio, some review set backs to help people with3
building additions, and then we also got people4
available in the future if they are on this list5
to apply for the building permit fee waivers,6
expedited permit processing and application7
processing, a property tax rebate for the8
village portion of the tax bill and then9
potentially matching grant funds.06:47PM 10

So all of these 47 properties if11
they are going to be added officially to the12
list, which will have final approval by the13
village board, they would be able to come14
forward in the future with an application for15
any of these incentives, which depending on16
which application, which incentive it is, some17
can go directly to HPC, some go to the HPC and18
the village board.19

MR. HAARLOW:  Okay.  Thank you.  And06:47PM 20
can you also state the boundaries of the21
district?22

9

MS. SALMON:  There is in here if you1
look in your packet on Exhibit No. 1, we do have2
the zoning map with the historic overlay and as3
approved, it basically includes the majority of4
the village with a couple of zoning districts5
that were excluded because there wasn't found to6
be a lot of buildings that had architectural7
significance.8

So the districts that were excluded9
are the O-3 district, the B-3 district, the R-506:48PM 10
and R-6 districts.  Every other district you can11
basically be eligible for inclusion on this list12
and subject to meeting the criteria that we are13
going to review tonight.14

MR. HAARLOW:  So it's almost all of the15
homes in Hinsdale are within the district?16

MS. SALMON:  Correct.  And that was17
really important to us because if you remember,18
we have seen a lot of homes that have come down19
in our Robbins Park District but we wanted to06:48PM 20
make sure that we had a way to make this21
eligible for basically anywhere in the village.22
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But being in the historical overlay district1
doesn't automatically put you on the2
historically significant structures property3
list.  We do want to make sure we review these4
homes, make sure they are still historic and5
there's reason to be on this list.6

MR. HAARLOW:  Thank you.  I appreciate7
you making these clarifications and having it in8
the record.  Thank you.9

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Do we have any06:49PM 10
questions from our commissioners?11

MS. WEINBERGER:  No questions, but I12
just really want to thank Bethany.  This is a13
lot of work and it's fabulous.  It's fabulous.14
Thank you.  I know it was a lot of work.15

MS. SALMON:  Yes.  And I will say I16
have one more chance to say one thing.17

Anything that's in here, it doesn't18
mean this is everything on these properties.19
The Historical Society actually has a lot more06:49PM 20
information on a lot of these properties but21
what we have included in here at least is what22

11

at least for right now we think is enough to1
bring forward for review.  So if there's2
something that we want to look into further, we3
can always do that at a next public hearing.4
And I will say just for your guys purposes, I5
have quite a pending list already for the next6
round.  It probably won't be 47 properties again7
because that's a lot but we do have a lot of8
people that have reached out and said, when can9
I get on the next round.  So it's a great thing06:50PM 10
and if approved, we have more properties on this11
list than we have landmarked already.12

MS. BRADEN:  We can put it on the13
agenda next month and we can push through.14

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Is there any members15
of the public that wish to speak on this matter16
or any particular property tonight?17

(No response.)18
Hearing none, we --19

MS. SALMON:  The packet is online, to06:51PM 20
answer your question.  If you want to contact me21
tomorrow, I'd be happy to send it to you.22

12

MR. PRISBY:  Bethany, I have the one1
you have us at the last meeting.2

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Unless anyone else3
has something to say, we are going to close the4
Public Hearing and discuss this matter.5

Do I have a motion to close the6
public hearing?7

MS. WEINBERGER:  I move to close the8
public hearing.9

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Second, please.06:51PM 10
MR. PRISBY:  I'll second.11
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Weinberger?12
MS. WEINBERGER:  Aye.13
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Gonzalez?14
MR. GONZALEZ:  Aye.15

         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Braden?16
MS. BRADEN:  Aye.17
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Haarlow?18

         MR. HAARLOW:  Aye.19
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Prisby?06:51PM 20
MR. PRISBY:  Aye.21

         MS. SALMON:  Chairman Bohnen?22
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CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Aye.1
So now we will proceed to work2

through our list.3
MS. SALMON:  Would it be easier if I --4

I'm happy to introduce the house and state the5
address.  We will be going through hopefully in6
order as they are in the packet and as they are7
in the spreadsheet that was included in the8
packet.9

The first one on our list is 12206:53PM 10
South Adams Street.  Now that we are looking, as11
an example, like I said, each of them have a12
consistent cover page and then that last box in13
there will say what the previous survey14
information was.15

MS. BRADEN:  Do we need to review or16
just chime in with our thoughts on a criteria?17

MS. SALMON:  Yes.  And then if there's18
any debate or disagreement or if everyone19
agrees, we can just go on to the next one.06:53PM 20

MS. BRADEN:  I'd select No. 5 criteria21
given it's historically significant given the22
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local landmark.1
MS. WEINBERGER:  I would agree.2
MR. GONZALEZ:  Says it's designated as3

a landmark so ....4
MS. SALMON:  We will do a mass motion5

at the end.  As long as we can identify at least6
one criteria and everyone agrees on it, that's7
great, and then I'll mark down for the record8
which every one agrees on.9

If someone really feels strongly06:54PM 10
they want to have more criteria, that's fine but11
you only need to meet one.  If there's any12
discussion or deliberation that's needed, we can13
stop and discuss it and like I said, if we need14
to continue certain ones or set those aside for15
a separate motion, we can.16

So is everyone feeling okay about17
122 South Adams, and I'll mark in the record18
that it meets criteria 5.19

MS. BRADEN:  Yes.06:55PM 20
MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes.21
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  That brings us to22

15

25 East Ayres Street.1
MR. PRISBY:  I think it still falls2

under No. 5.  Queen Anne style home,3
architecturally significant.4

MS. WEINBERGER:  Yes.  Agree.5
MR. PRISBY:  Pretty straightforward as6

far as I'm concerned.7
MS. WEINBERGER:  Yes.8
MS. SALMON:  So I think there's9

consensus we also agree on No. 5.06:56PM 10
The next one on the list is11

309 East Chicago Avenue.12
MS. BRADEN:  This one I may have13

questions about off line but it wouldn't impact14
our agreeing on this.15

MS. WEINBERGER:  Which criteria?  I'm16
grateful it was saved but I'm struggling with17
criteria because if this would have been saved18
and done in the style of the home, that would19
have helped but it looks brand new.06:56PM 20

MR. PRISBY:  I think I'd use the21
example that Bethany gave the other day that if22
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someone drove up to this house on the historic1
list they would be like why or how because2
enough of the exterior has changed to look like3
a new home that I was also struggling with this4
one.5

MS. BRADEN:  But they didn't teardown,6
which --7

MS. WEINBERGER:  They didn't.8
MS. BRADEN:  But they didn't keep9

enough of the facade to --06:57PM 10
MR. PRISBY:  They kept the bay, they11

kept the gable, they kept the dormer with that12
large roof that looks very much like the old13
house, but then the porch is radically14
different.  They did the extension, it doesn't15
look like the original house.  They didn't try16
to maintain that image or that style.  So when I17
relate to what we used for the first two, No. 5,18
to me it's no longer an architectural style so19
what would this fall under?06:57PM 20

MS. WEINBERGER:  Correct.21
MR. PRISBY:  Does it still fall under22

17

one of the other five?1
MR. WEINBERGER:  We don't have enough2

information.3
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I think the fact that4

it was saved, right.  I mean, when you look at5
the original structure and look at the number of6
pictures of the exterior facade, it mirrored the7
old house.8

What we are trying to do is to save9
old houses not necessarily reconstruct it in the06:58PM 10
exact style.11

I, frankly, think that the people12
along Chicago Avenue have done a great job on a13
number of those old houses that go from the Oak14
Street bridge west that look very nice now and15
otherwise would have been torn down.  I don't16
know what criteria.17

MS. BRADEN:  Should we say 5 because it18
still has the bones of the architecture?19

MR. PRISBY:  I'm just wondering if we06:59PM 20
need more information on this one.  I mean, was21
the house simply saved because of -- maybe Robb22
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knows -- zoning aspects of this, it was over a1
setback line or was there a reason for keeping2
the structure?  Is it more of a zoning criteria?3

MR. McGINNIS:  I wouldn't know.4
MR. PRISBY:  I'm just wondering if we5

need more information on this one.  You can keep6
this house simply because how it relates to the7
newer zoning with the older structure as opposed8
to tearing it down and building it new, which to9
me, I have a bit of an issue then saying that06:59PM 10
this is historic.11

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I don't think that12
people would typically buy that, tear it down13
and build a new house with the railroad in their14
backyard.15

MR. PRISBY:  Probably not.16
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  So I think it was17

either refit a house like this or have nothing18
there.  These houses, many of them, were in19
disrepair and the people who have been working07:00PM 20
on them showed a lot of ingenuity.21

I think they should be credited for22

19

the fact that they saved houses in Hinsdale and1
if perhaps their renovation ends up being a2
little hard to identify in terms of style, I can3
get by that.4

MS. WEINBERGER:  Does No. 3 fit,5
criteria 3 fit?6

MR. PRISBY:  No. 3?7
MS. BRADEN:  I just don't know who the8

architect is.9
MR. GONZALEZ:  I think that's going to07:00PM 10

happen many times.11
MS. WEINBERGER:  No. 3, one or more12

structures on the property embodies the13
distinctive characteristics of a type, period,14
or method of construction, or represents the15
work of a master, or possesses high artistic16
values, or represents a significant and17
distinguishable entity whose components may lack18
individual distinction.  Those are all ors so19
you don't need to have the work by a master.07:00PM 20

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  By guess would be if21
somebody didn't come along and renovate these,22
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they would just deteriorate and probably not1
have anything built on those lots.2

MS. SALMON:  One thing I'll offer as an3
option here, not that this is the way we need to4
go, but we did think about this, like, what the5
information that was included for each of these6
properties is kind of like a windshield survey,7
right, they are kind of higher level.8

We do have some historic survey9
sheets that are really good to go off of, but07:01PM 10
this particular property has had some recent11
renovations and we didn't do like a deep dive12
into everything they actually did.  We didn't13
look into that specifically.  Maybe there is14
more information historically that the15
Historical Society has on this house or the16
homeowners might have.17

So for cases like this, if you guys18
would like additional information, we could add19
this to the list and continue it to the next07:01PM 20
meeting and be able to see if we can find21
anything else that you guys might be interested22

21

in and bring it back for review.1
MS. BRADEN:  Because maybe the person2

who built it is noteworthy or was noteworthy3
rather, because that would fit a criteria.4

MS. SALMON:  Right.5
MS. BRADEN:  Do you know why it was6

significant in the reconnaissance survey and7
then contributing in the Robbins Park or is that8
just the opinion of the surveyor?9

MS. SALMON:  That's a good question.07:02PM 10
But I will say the one thing I know11

is that the reconnaissance survey done in 1999,12
it's my understanding, that it was trying to13
kind of look at the village as a whole and14
that's a really big thing for a historic survey15
to do.16

So I think they did it more as a17
windshield survey truly where you are kind of18
just like not really deep diving into building19
permit and you are not going that one level07:02PM 20
deeper and then it set up kind of like little21
districts and that became the foundation for how22
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they decided where to do the additional historic1
surveys and identify which areas might be their2
own stand-alone districts.3

That's actually how Robbins Park4
became a historic district and some of the other5
areas that we have in town, they didn't become6
historic districts later but they did the survey7
information for it.8

So I think when they started9
looking into it further in 2002, it may have07:03PM 10
gotten reclassified when they started doing a11
deeper level or something could have happened to12
the building permit between the one survey and13
the other survey.14

MR. McGINNIS:  I might suggest if --15
you are going to struggle with others and like16
Jim's point, we have a month, if we continue17
this, we don't get through the entire list18
tonight, we can do some research on some of19
these properties and maybe help identify some of07:03PM 20
that specific criteria.  Maybe there were some21
setbacks that somebody was trying to take22
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advantage of or maybe there was some1
significance to this that wasn't included in the2
detail tonight.3

MS. WEINBERGER:  Do we need to make a4
motion to table this?5

MS. SALMON:  I think we will make a6
motion but if you guys can agree right now,7
maybe take another month.  I will make a note on8
my sheet because we are going to do a bulk9
motion for the ones that everyone seems to07:04PM 10
easily agree on and the ones -- we have a11
separate motion to continue.12

MS. BRADEN:  So we will set that aside13
then?14

MS. SALMON:  Yes.15
MS. BRADEN:  Great.16
MR. HAARLOW:  Can I just offer on this17

one before we leave it.  On the survey, it was18
done by the Illinois Urban Architectural19
Historical Survey, it says, reason for07:04PM 20
significance.  If not for the stucco siding and21
the side one-story addition, this Queen Anne22

24

style house would not be rated significant.1
So it seems like the stucco siding2

is perhaps not there anymore, or it's been3
covered up, but it does still have the side4
one-story addition and so if we are looking for5
a criterion that matches, I would argue that6
No. 5 could be applied here.  So I'm okay with7
continuing it.8

MS. SALMON:  I think, Commissioner9
Haarlow, what you are saying is that that stucco07:05PM 10
that used to be there was actually added on11
after and might not have been something that12
they should have done and actually maybe them13
putting back that siding is more appropriate.14

MS. WEINBERGER:  Correct.15
MR. HAARLOW:  So, actually, I guess I16

read this incorrectly.  Because I guess what17
they are saying is that those would be18
detractions.19

MS. SALMON:  I think the stucco07:05PM 20
cladding, if you look at the last box at the end21
of the page, they are saying that that stucco22
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actually is not original from whoever did this1
survey.2

MR. HAARLOW:  Okay.  Well, then I just3
retract what I said.4

MS. SALMON:  But what we can do is we5
can do a dive for building permits, we can see6
if Historical Society has some information and I7
can hopefully bring that information back to the8
next meeting and then we can review it all9
together.07:06PM 10

Does that sound okay to everyone?11
We will add it to the future list.12

MR. GONZALEZ:  I'm good with it.13
         MS. WEINBERGER:  That's fine.14

MR. PRISBY:  This one is just really a15
good example of whether the changes are16
significant enough to render it no longer17
historically significant.18

At the same time, to John's point,19
we don't want these people to not keep these07:06PM 20
houses and if they want to take the exterior and21
update it to a more modern style or something22
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that's a little more trendy, at least they are1
keeping the house, so where do we draw that2
line.  And I think we will probably, in the next3
run of houses, probably see a lot more of those4
than we are seeing tonight.  I think we are5
going to see a lot more that have been renovated6
significantly that they may no longer look7
historically significant or historic at all and8
what do you do with those.  This is a good9
benchmark to start with.07:07PM 10

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Frankly, again, I11
drive down there all the time going to Western12
Springs, and I feel civic pride about the fact13
they have taken these little houses and14
renovated them so nicely.15

So for me, I can stretch it for16
No. 6 even though maybe historically may not be17
significant enough.  I think it shows innovation18
and it shows civic concern and I think the town19
is better off for them because over the years07:07PM 20
these houses have sort of dwindled and now21
there's three or four of them that have shown22
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real solid renovation.1
MR. GONZALEZ:  Something to consider2

that the proportion has pretty much stayed with3
a very few exceptions.  So I take the old view,4
it's very relatable, it's not like they bumped5
out the side, the front and side that the side6
changed so drastically that doesn't look7
anything like that.  It still does resemble the8
original home, at least 80, 90 percent.9

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  I like it.07:08PM 10
MR. GONZALEZ:  Just some thoughts.11
MS. BRADEN:  Now, do we all have to be12

in agreement in moving the home along, or is13
this, like, how we vote?14

MS. SALMON:  I think if there's any15
where there's debate like this, we should have16
them as a separate motion.  I think that's the17
easiest way to do it and if there are people18
saying hey, why don't we take another month we19
can add it to review next month.07:08PM 20

MR. PRISBY:  If we vote on it and it's21
3-3, is it dead or is that a good reason to22
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continue it?1
MS. SALMON:  It wouldn't be dead.  Your2

recommendation of the HPC will be forwarded to3
the village board and they are going to make the4
final decision.  They will obviously take HPC's5
recommendation as part of their decision making.6

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Okay.7
MR. GONZALEZ:  Let's move one.8
MS. SALMON:  So we will hold that one.9

46 South County Line Road.07:09PM 10
MS. BRADEN:  Criteria 3 and 5.11
MR. GONZALEZ:  No brainer.12
MS. WEINBERGER:  And 2, yes.13
MS. SALMON:  Any other discussion on14

that one?15
MS. WEINBERGER:  No.16
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  The next property17

on the list is 121 South County Line Road, which18
I believe everyone is familiar with.19

MR. BRADEN:  Very familiar.  3, 5, 6.07:10PM 20
MS. WEINBERGER:  2.21
MS. SALMON:  So I will add 2, 3, 5 and22
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do you want me to also add 6?1
MS. BRADEN:  In my opinion, it was2

Frank Lloyd Wright.3
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  It did recently4

become landmarked, so that landmark ordinance is5
in here.6

The next property for consideration7
is 505 South County Line Road.8

MS. BRADEN:  Another one that I have9
been hooked to in the past 48 hours.07:10PM 10

MS. WEINBERGER:  2.11
MS. BRADEN:  Yes.  2, 3, 5 and 6.  The12

owners, the original owners, I know the wife13
started infant welfare.  She was a very big14
advocate for the American Red Cross when it came15
to Hinsdale, so the owners themselves have made16
huge contributions to this community.  I'm not17
even bringing to light the architectural18
significance on the Lyon and Healy owners and19
David Adler.07:11PM 20

MS. SALMON:  Any other comments on 50521
South County Line?22
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The next house on the list is 6441
South County Line Road.2

MR. GONZALEZ:  5.3
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  What about 6?4
MR. GONZALEZ:  6, too.5
MS. WEINBERGER:  5.6
MS. SALMON:  Okay.7

Any other comments?8
MR. GONZALEZ:  It's classical --9

actually colonial, so I think it should be 6,07:12PM 10
too.11

MS. SALMON:  So we will put down 5 and12
6.13

The next house on property up for14
consideration is 5901 South County Line Road.15
This is our Harold Zook home and studio that's16
at KLM Park.17

Just for the record here, because I18
know this might be a little confusing, the19
survey sheets that we had on file for when it07:13PM 20
was previously located at 327 South Oak Street21
but obviously it's the house.22
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         MS. WEINBERGER:  Well, I would say it's1
1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6.2

MS. SALMON:  Any other comments?  Okay.3
The next house on the list is 244

East Eighth Street.5
MR. PRISBY:  I was good with this one,6

especially since it was the home of a local7
architect, Harford Field, so this would fall8
under 2.9

MS. WEINBERGER:  2.07:14PM 10
MS. BRADEN:  For sure.11
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  The next house on12

the list is 209 North Elm Street.13
MS. WEINBERGER:  3 and, interestingly,14

5.  If we had more history on the house, this is15
actually a portion of a larger home that was on16
that corner.  The history is really interesting17
and I would love to get their neighbor to be on18
this list because it was originally one large19
house and after World War II they split into07:15PM 20
two.21

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  It was the TB22

32

recovery.  And after that subsided, they split1
the house.2

MS. WEINBERGER:  I didn't know that.3
MS. SALMON:  I will put down No. 3 and4

No. 5.5
MS. BRADEN:  Probably No. 2, the6

history Chairman Bohnen just shared about the7
history.8

MS. WEINBERGER:  Agree.9
MS. SALMON:  The next property on the07:16PM 10

list is 425 South Elm Street.11
MS. WEINBERGER:  5.12
MS. BRADEN:  5.13
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  They did a real neat14

job on that.15
MS. SALMON:  Any other comments?16

If not, we will move to 740 South17
Elm Street.18

MS. BRADEN:  Definitely 5.  I'd say 2,19
Phillip Duke West.07:17PM 20

MS. WEINBERGER:  2 and 3.21
MR. HAARLOW:  I'd say 3 as well.22

33

MR. PRISBY:  3.1
MS. BRADEN:  100 percent 3.2
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  Moving on -- we3

have 2, 3, 5 for that property.4
Moving on to the next property we5

have 33 East Fifth Street.6
MR. GONZALEZ:  1 through 6.7
MS. BRADEN:  Yes.8
MS. SALMON:  Any other comments?9

I'll put 1 through 6.07:17PM 10
The next house is 132 East Fifth11

Street.12
MS. BRADEN:  2, 3 and 5.13
MS. WEINBERGER:  Agree.14
MR. PRISBY:  Agree.15
MS. SALMON:  Okay.16

The next house on the list is 14517
East Fifth Street.18

MS. WEINBERGER:  For sure 5.19
MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes.07:18PM 20
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  I have No. 521

listed.22
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The next house is 317 East First1
Street.2

MR. PRISBY:  Can we go fast on this3
one, guys.  For transparency reasons, this is4
one of three houses that our office did work on5
that are on this list.  I'll get to the other6
two later when we get to them.7

These were -- all three houses, we8
did architectural work on them more than9
20 years ago.  They were all in the last century07:19PM 10
so our office did this porch, an addition to the11
north and a revised kitchen back in I think this12
was '95 and I'm not recusing myself from voting13
on any of these.  I'm not getting any more work14
from them.  All three have new owners, pretty15
straightforward for me.  I think it just needed16
to be on the record that I was associated with17
the work on that house.18

MS. BRADEN:  Okay.  5.19
MS. SALMON:  There's no further07:20PM 20

comments on that.21
The next one is 131 North Garfield22
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Avenue.1
MS. WEINBERGER:  It's definitely a 5.2
MS. BRADEN:  Yes.3
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  I will put 5 down4

for the criteria.5
The next house is 518 South6

Garfield Avenue.7
MS. BRADEN:  5.8
MR. GONZALEZ:  5.9
MR. PRISBY:  5 for sure.07:21PM 10
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  No. 5.11

The next house is 217 West Hickory12
Street.13

MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes, this is a14
landmarked home.  1 through 6.15

MS. WEINBERGER:  Definitely.16
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  Everyone in17

agreement, so I'll put down 1 through 6.18
The next house on the list is 11119

North Lincoln Street.07:22PM 20
MR. PRISBY:  5 again.21
MS. WEINBERGER:  Yes.22
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MS. SALMON:  Okay.1
MS. BRADEN:  Or No. 2 also.2
MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes.  2 and 5.3
MS. BRADEN:  Yes, 5.4
MS. SALMON:  And No. 2?  The last page5

of the survey sheet does have some historic6
information on it too.  I don't know if that's7
what you were looking at.8

MS. BRADEN:  I'm looking at Stough sold9
it to Bruner in 1873 but I was just thinking07:23PM 10
about that No. 2.  We have identified No. 5 for11
sure, I'm okay with that.12

MS. SALMON:  Okay.  No. 5.13
Next is 510 North Lincoln Street.14

MR. GONZALEZ:  Full disclosure, I just15
finished this work about four weeks ago maybe,16
yes, four week ago, where we replaced the17
damaged limestone steps on both sides on the18
east and south of the facade.  But as far as my19
work, it's been closed and it was closed last07:24PM 20
year.  I took a lot of pride trying to get this21
-- Robb helped me with the railing issues and22

37

the height, loose stone trying to keep the1
character of the home the best as we could.2

MS. WEINBERGER:  Definitely a 5.3
MS. BRADEN:  Yes.4
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  The next house is5

307 South Lincoln Street.6
MR. PRISBY:  Definitely a 5.7
MS. WEINBERGER:  Yes.8
MS. SALMON:  Any other comments?  We9

will list that as meeting criteria 5.07:25PM 10
The next house is 515 South Lincoln11

Street.12
MR. PRISBY:  This is also another13

project our office worked on, front porch was14
done in '98.15

MS. WEINBERGER:  This is definitely a 516
as well.17

MS. SALMON:  Okay.  I'll put down18
criteria 5.19

The next house is 833 South07:25PM 20
Lincoln.21

MR. GONZALEZ:  It resembles a little22
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bit of a Zook?1
MS. WEINBERGER:  Yes.2
MS. SALMON:  I heard rumors that Zook3

may have done an addition on this house but I4
don't know if we can verify that.5

MS. BRADEN:  Definitely 5.6
MR. GONZALEZ:  Definitely 5.7
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  I'll list this as8

No. 5.9
MS. WEINBERGER:  This actually was a07:26PM 10

Sears Roebuck catalogue design.11
MR. GONZALEZ:  That's a big home for12

sure.13
MS. SALMON:  The current homeowner when14

we spoke with them in the past, has said I think15
there's a rear addition that she believes Zook16
may have been involved in.  We obviously need to17
do additional research because I don't see it18
noted here.19

MR. GONZALEZ:  Okay.07:26PM 20
MS. SALMON:  I'll list that as No. 5.21

The next house is 807 McKinley22
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Lane.1
MS. WEINBERGER:  No. 5.2
MR. GONZALEZ:  5.3
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  The next house is4

23 South Oak Street.5
MR. GONZALEZ:  Definitely 5.6
MS. SALMON:  All right.7

The next house is 35 South Oak8
Street.9

MS. BRADEN:  5.07:27PM 10
MR. GONZALEZ:  5.11
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  The next house is12

711 South Oak Street.13
MS. WEINBERGER:  For sure 5 but then14

also with the history of the Olympics, that's15
pretty cool.16

MS. SALMON:  The homeowner gave me that17
information after we published this packet.18

MS. WEINBERGER:  So I would say19
definitely 2 and 5.07:28PM 20

MS. SALMON:  Okay.  So that I will put21
a No. 2 and a No. 5.22
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The next house is 728 South Oak1
Street.2

MR. PRISBY:  5 for sure.  Great example3
of a French Eclectic house.4

MS. BRADEN:  Wait, this is the --5
MR. PRISBY:  728.6
MS. BRADEN:  728 we have this as the7

Foss home.8
MS. WEINBERGER:  No.9
MS. BRADEN:  That's confusing because I07:29PM 10

just pulled the summary sheet.11
MS. WEINBERGER:  It's definitely a 5.12
MS. SALMON:  The pole vaulter, I think13

he's associated with 711 South Oak.14
MS. BRADEN:  I'm sorry.  I reviewed all15

of this over the weekend and then I pulled the16
summary sheets because I thought it would be17
easier to have the quick facts.  It's my fault.18

MS. SALMON:  So 728 South Oak I'll put19
No. 5 down.07:29PM 20

MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes.21
MS. SALMON:  The next house on the list22
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is 420 South Park.1
MS. BRADEN:  2 and 5.2
MS. WEINBERGER:  Yes, I agree.3
MR. HAARLOW:  Can we include 3 in that4

as well just for the characteristic and the5
type?6

MS. SALMON:  Yes, No. 2, No. 3 and7
No. 5.8

MS. BRADEN:  He apparently painted9
Lincoln's first official portrait.07:30PM 10

MS. SALMON:  Okay.  The next house is11
640 South Park Avenue.12

MS. WEINBERGER:  5.13
MS. BRADEN:  The same, 2 and 5.14
MR. HAARLOW:  John, isn't this where --15
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  His uncle.16
MR. HAARLOW:  His uncle.  Okay.  Can we17

include criterion 2 as well, lives of persons of18
significance.19

MS. SALMON:  So we will include No. 207:31PM 20
and No. 5.  Okay.21

The next house on the list is 42022
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East Seventh Street.1
MS. BRADEN:  5.2
MR. GONZALEZ:  Definitely 5.  This is3

an interesting home.  I did a walk through.4
MS. SALMON:  We will list criteria 5.5

The next house on the list is 1386
East Sixth Street.7

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  In Charleston that's8
where houses were taxed by the house width9
that's why all the houses in Charleston are07:32PM 10
sideways, and this house was built in the same11
mode of entry on the side.12

MS. BRADEN:  I love this home.13
MS. WEINBERGER:  For sure 5.14
MS. SALMON:  I will list criteria15

No. 5.16
The next house is 222 East Sixth17

Street.18
MS. WEINBERGER:  I would say a 2 and a19

5.07:32PM 20
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  No. 2 and No. 521

will be listed.22
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The next house to review is 1141
South Stough Street.2

MR. GONZALEZ:  This could be 1 through3
6.4

MS. BRADEN:  It could be.5
MR. GONZALEZ:  There's a lot of6

history.7
MS. SALMON:  1 through 6 for this8

house?  And other comments?9
MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes.07:34PM 10
MS. SALMON:  The next house is 701 Taft11

Road, which you are all familiar with as well.12
MR. GONZALEZ:  That's an interesting13

home.  That's a little bit of an international14
style.  The addition seems to relate really well15
with the home.16

MS. SALMON:  And it was an addition17
done by the original architect.  I would note18
when we put this original survey sheet together,19
I don't think they had gotten official landmark07:34PM 20
status so the ordinance was not included in here21
but they have officially been approved as a22
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landmark now, just one item of clarity.1
MS. WEINBERGER:  1 through 6.2
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  The next house is3

810 Taft Road.4
MR. GONZALEZ:  5.5
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  We will list No. 5.6

The next house is 148 The Lane.7
MR. GONZALEZ:  Agree, 5.8
MR. PRISBY:  Only thing that fits.9
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  We will list No. 5.07:35PM 10

The next house is 222 East Third11
Street.12

MR. PRISBY:  This is the last one that13
our office worked on.  Restored the tower up,14
put the curved glass up at the top, did the wrap15
around front porch, the stained glass for the16
front door and the garage addition on the17
southwest side.18

MR. GONZALEZ:  I think this is 119
through 6 too.07:36PM 20

MS. SALMON:  1 through 6.21
The next house is 417 East Third22
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Street.1
MR. GONZALEZ:  1895, yes.2
MS. BRADEN:  And Zook remodeled it3

after the fire, right.4
MR. GONZALEZ:  Yes, and they did a nice5

job.6
MS. WEINBERGER:  For sure 5 and 2.7
MS. SALMON:  Okay, we will list No. 28

and No. 5.9
The next house is 433 East Third07:37PM 10

Street.  This property is owned by Commissioner11
Barclay.  She's obviously not present at the12
meeting tonight but if she were, she was13
planning on recusing herself from the vote.  She14
doesn't need to now but I just wanted to make15
that for transparency sake on the record.16

MR. GONZALEZ:  Definitely 5.17
MS. BARCLAY:  Can I say 2 because she's18

a commissioner?19
MR. PRISBY:  Nice try.07:37PM 20
MS. SALMON:  We will list No. 5.21

Next house is 434 East Third22
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Street.1
MS. WEINBERGER:  2, 6.2
MS. BRADEN:  It's interesting on this3

one though it's not contributing.4
MS. WEINBERGER:  It's because the5

facade.  For sure 2.6
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  I will mark that as7

meeting criteria No. 2.8
The next house for review is 6059

East Third Street.07:38PM 10
MS. WEINBERGER:  5.11
MS. BRADEN:  5.12
MS. SALMON:  I will mark down criteria13

No. 5.14
The next is 132 North Vine Street.15

MS. WEINBERGER:  This is a 2 for sure.16
Probably a 5.17

MS. BRADEN:  Agree.18
MS. SALMON:  Criteria No. 2 and19

criteria No. 5.07:39PM 20
The next house is 239 East Walnut21

Street.22
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I can make a little note on this1
for transparency as well.  This particular house2
is owned by Commissioner Weinberger, so we will3
make a separate motion for this house, kind of4
separate it off so that she can recuse herself5
on this vote down the road.6

MR. GONZALEZ:  So we are skipping it7
for now is what you're saying?8

MS. SALMON:  You can still discuss it9
now but when we get to the motion, we will have07:40PM 10
a separate motion for her house so she can11
recuse herself.12

MS. BRADEN:  She can't weight in on the13
criteria, right?14

MR. GONZALEZ:  Okay.15
MS. SALMON:  No, she should recuse16

herself from that discussion.17
MS. WEINBERGER:  But if you have any18

questions.19
MS. SALMON:  This house is a landmark07:40PM 20

status.21
MR. HAARLOW:  Certainly 3 and 5.22
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MS. SALMON:  No. 3 and No. 5, did I1
hear that right for the criteria?2

MR. HAARLOW:  For 239 East Walnut, yes.3
MS. SALMON:  Okay, No. 3 and 5.4

The next house is 640 North5
Washington.6

MR. GONZALEZ:  You know, one second.7
For 239 East Walnut I'd like to do 1 through 6;8
it's a landmarked home.9

MS. SALMON:  Okay.  We will amend 23907:41PM 10
East Walnut to include 1 through 6.11

The next house 640 North Washington12
Street.13

MR. PRISBY:  5.14
MS. WEINBERGER:  5.15
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  We will include16

criteria No. 5.17
And the final house is 711 South18

Washington Street.19
MS. BRADEN:  I'd say 5 and 2, the07:42PM 20

former home of the cofounder of the Kitchen21
Walk.  I'm not being facetious.22
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MS. WEINBERGER:  I would agree.1
MS. BRADEN:  It's a very important2

building.3
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  I will add criteria4

No. 5 and No. 2.5
We can give one more opportunity if6

anyone wants to talk about 309 East Chicago.7
That was the only one we had discussion on it if8
you guys want to go back to it, we can or we can9
still bring more information for next month.07:43PM 10

MR. PRISBY:  We can pull it and vote11
separate.12

MS. SALMON:  You can do that too.13
MS. BRADEN:  So it would be separate14

vote and it would be like a motion.15
MS. SALMON:  Yes.16

So based on the discussion we are17
going to do a separate motion for 239 East18
Walnut Street to allow Commissioner Weinberger19
to recuse herself from the vote and then we did07:43PM 20
have discussion come up about 309 East Chicago21
Avenue.22
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But we can, for the properties that1
we just identified that meet specific criteria,2
we can have someone state the motion and either3
the commissioners can read out the entire list4
of properties or I'm happy to do it as well.5

As long as someone makes the6
motion, I'll say the list of properties and7
remove those two from the list.8

MS. WEINBERGER:  So I move to recommend9
to the village board approval of the following07:44PM 10
properties for inclusion on the historically11
significant structures property list in the12
historic overlay district under Case No.13
HPC-01-2023.  And I'm going to let Bethany14
handle this.15

MS. SALMON:  Okay.  So the list16
includes 122 South Adams Street, 25 East Ayres17
Street, 46 South County Line Road, 121 South18
County Line Road, 505 South County Line Road,19
644 South County Line Road, 5901 South County07:44PM 20
Line Road, 24 East Eighth Street, 209 North Elm21
Street, 425 South Elm Street, 740 South Elm22
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Street, 33 East Fifth Street, 132 East Fifth1
Street, 145 East Fifth Street, 317 East First2
Street, 131 North Garfield Avenue, 518 South3
Garfield Avenue, 217 West Hickory Street, 1114
North Lincoln Street, 510 North Lincoln Street,5
307 South Lincoln Street, 515 South Lincoln6
Street, 833 South Lincoln Street, 807 McKinley7
Lane, 23 South Oak Street, 35 South Oak Street,8
711 South Oak Street, 428 South Oak Street, 4209
South Park Avenue, 640 South Park Avenue, 42007:45PM 10
East Seventh Street, 138 East Sixth Street, 22211
East Sixth Street, 114 South Stough Street, 70112
Taft Road, 810 Taft Road, 148 The Lane, 222 East13
Third Street, 417 East Third Street, 433 East14
Third Street, 434 East Third Street, 605 East15
Third Street, 132 North Vine Street, 640 North16
Washington Street, 711 South Washington Street.17

MR. PRISBY:  I'll second.18
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Roll call vote,19

please.07:46PM 20
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Weinberger?21
MS. WEINBERGER:  Aye.22
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MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Gonzalez?1
MR. GONZALEZ:  Aye.2
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Braden?3
MS. BRADEN:  Aye.4

         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Haarlow?5
MR. HAARLOW:  Aye.6
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Prisby?7
MR. PRISBY:  Aye.8
MS. SALMON:  Chairman Bohnen?9
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Aye.  Motion carries.07:46PM 10

Now we need a motion for 239 East11
Walnut.12

MS. SALMON:  Yes.13
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Can I have a motion,14

please.15
MS. BRADEN:  I move to recommend to the16

village board approval of the following property17
for inclusion on the historically significant18
structures property list in the historic overlay19
district under Case No. HPC-01-2023 at 239 East07:47PM 20
Walnut Street.21

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Second, please?22
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MR. HAARLOW:  Second.1
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Roll call vote,2

please.3
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Weinberger?4
MS. WEINBERGER:  Abstain.5
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Gonzalez?6
MR. GONZALEZ:  Aye.7
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Braden?8
MS. BRADEN:  Aye.9

         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Haarlow?07:47PM 10
MR. HAARLOW:  Aye.11
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Prisby?12
MR. PRISBY:  Aye.13
MS. SALMON:  Chairman Bohnen?14
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Aye.  Motion carries.15
MS. SALMON:  I believe the final house16

that we need to make a recommendation for is 30917
East Chicago Avenue.18

So there's the two motions options19
here.  You can either just have a separate07:48PM 20
motion of asking if everyone wants to recommend21
it or if everyone wants more information, that22
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would be under No. 4 of continuing the following1
public hearing and make sure we mention a date2
certain, which is March 1, 2023.3

MS. BRADEN:  I'm happy to make that4
motion if we are in agreement.5

MS. WEINBERGER:  I would like a little6
more information.7

MR. PRISBY:  I just think this is one8
we need to do a little deeper dive on it to9
where I'd being comfortable with it.07:48PM 10

MS. WEINBERGER:  I agree.11
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  You want a12

continuation?13
MR. PRISBY:  Yes.14
MS. SALMON:  Okay.  If someone can make15

the motion on the last page.16
MS. BRADEN:  I move to continue the17

Public Hearing on Case No. HPC-01-2023 for the18
consideration of 309 East Chicago Avenue listed19
in the Public Hearing notice for inclusion on07:49PM 20
the historically significant structures property21
list in the historic overlay district under Case22
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No. HPC-01-2023 to the next regular Historic1
Preservation Commission on March 1, 2023.2

MS. WEINBERGER:  Second.3
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Roll call vote,4

please.5
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Weinberger?6
MS. WEINBERGER:  Abstain.7
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Gonzalez?8
MR. GONZALEZ:  Aye.9
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Braden?10
MS. BRADEN:  Aye.11

         MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Haarlow?12
MR. HAARLOW:  Aye.13
MS. SALMON:  Commissioner Prisby?14
MR. PRISBY:  Aye.15
MS. SALMON:  Chairman Bohnen?16
CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Aye.  Motion carries.17
MS. SALMON:  So with that what we will18

do is we will try and gather as much information19
as we can on the property for the next meeting07:49PM 20
and we will continue the Public Hearing at that21
time.22
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In the meantime, we have been told1
for the properties that were just recommended2
for approval, we can start moving on those and3
bringing them forward to the village board.  So4
it's okay if they kind of take divergent paths,5
they will all get to the same place eventually.6

And then I think the last thing to7
do -- I think that's it.8

CHAIRMAN BOHNEN:  Is there any public9
comment?07:50PM 10

(No response.)11
Hearing none, we will move on to12

new business.13
                  (WHICH, were all of the14
                   proceedings had, evidence15
                   offered or received in the16
                   above entitled cause.)17

18
19
20
21
22
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STATE OF ILLINOIS )
                  )  ss:
COUNTY OF DU PAGE )

              I, KATHLEEN W. BONO, Certified
Shorthand Reporter, Notary Public in and for the
County DuPage, State of Illinois, do hereby
certify that previous to the commencement of the
examination and testimony of the various
witnesses herein, they were duly sworn by me to
testify the truth in relation to the matters
pertaining hereto; that the testimony given by
said witnesses was reduced to writing by means
of shorthand and thereafter transcribed into
typewritten form; and that the foregoing is a
true, correct and complete transcript of my
shorthand notes so taken aforesaid.
              IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF I have
hereunto set my hand and affix my electronic
signature this 16th day of February, A.D. 2023.

                       _________________________
                       KATHLEEN W. BONO
                       C.S.R. No. 84-1423
                       Notary Public, DuPage County
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              MEMORANDUM 

DATE:   February 24, 2023 

TO:   Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC:  Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 

RE:  Case HPC-01-2023 – Consideration of Properties for Inclusion on the Historically Significant 
Structures Property List in the Historic Overlay District – Public Hearing (Continued from 
February 1, 2023) 

FOR: March 1, 2023 Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary 
On February 1, 2023, the Historic Preservation Commission reviewed forty-seven (47) properties for 
consideration on the Historically Significant Structures Property List within the Historic Overlay District, in 
accordance with the regulations listed in Section 14-7-3 of Title 14 of the Village Code. Seven (7) of these 
properties are located in Cook County and forty (40) are located in DuPage County. All of the properties are 
located in the established Historic Overlay District (Exhibit 1).  
 
At the public hearing, the Commission reviewed information provided in the packet and determined if each 
property possesses one or more of the criteria set forth in Section 14-7-3(B). Detailed property information and a 
summary table describing all properties was included in the packet, listing the address, date of construction, 
architectural style, architect, historic name, historic significance rating according to past historic surveys, land use, 
and zoning district. The definitions and evaluation information for the historic significance ratings based on past 
historic surveys is included in Exhibit 2. The criteria set forth in Section 14-7-3(B) is included in Exhibit 3. 
 
By a vote of six (6) ayes and zero (0) nays, with one (1) absent, the Historic Preservation Commission 
recommended to the Village Board approval of forty-five (45) properties for Inclusion on the Historically Significant 
Structures Property List in the Historic Overlay District under Case HPC-01-2023. 
 
A separate motion was made for two (2) properties – 239 E. Walnut Street and 309 E. Chicago Avenue. 
 
For 239 E. Walnut Street, a separate motion was made for this property because Commissioner Shannon 
Weinberger is the property owner and recused herself from the vote on her house. By a vote of five (5) ayes, zero 
(0) nays, one (1) abstain, and with one (1) absent, the Historic Preservation Commission recommended to the 
Village Board approval of 239 E. Walnut Street for Inclusion on the Historically Significant Structures Property List 
in the Historic Overlay District under Case HPC-01-2023. 
 
For 309 E. Chicago Avenue, given the recent substantial exterior renovations to this house, the HPC requested 
additional information be researched and provided at the next meeting to help determine if criteria in Section 14-
7-3(B) of the Village Code are met to include the house on the List. By a vote of six (6) ayes and zero (0) nays, with 
one (1) absent, the Historic Preservation Commission moved to continue the public hearing for Case HPC-02-2023 
for the consideration of the property located at 309 E. Chicago Avenue to the next regular meeting on March 1, 
2023.  
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The summary table for all properties is included in Exhibit 4, which includes the specific eligibility criteria listed in 
Section 14-7-3(B) that the Historic Preservation Commission determined each property met at the public hearing 
on February 1, 2023.  
 
Review of 309 E. Chicago Avenue 
The Historic Preservation Commission will review additional information provided for 309 E. Chicago Avenue at 
the continued public hearing on March 1, 2023 to determine if the property possesses one or more of the criteria 
set forth in Section 14-7-3(B) and make a recommendation to the Board of Trustees as to whether the property 
should be included on the Historically Significant Structures Property List. 
 
Detailed property information for 309 E. Chicago Avenue is provided in Exhibit 5. The Village does not have an 
original permit for the house on file. Per the 2002 Robbins Park I Survey, the house was estimated to be built circa 
1890 and the stucco cladding is not original to the house. It is believed per the survey that the house was originally 
covered in wood siding. The Downers Grove Township Assessor property data estimates that the house was 
constructed in 1907. Per Village permit files, in 1960, a new detached garage was constructed. In 1981, the one-
story addition on the east side of the house was approved for construction.  
 
The property owner provided building elevations, a rendering, and a site plan showing the recent exterior 
renovations for the Commission to review. Please note that it appears the owner has made some field changes to 
the elevations, including changes to windows and the removal of a proposed balcony. Changes include alterations 
to the front/side porch, installation of new roof shingles and windows, installation of a rear deck and side staircase, 
and the removal of stucco and installation of black Hardie Board horizontal siding on the majority of the exterior, 
with vertical siding accent areas on the two-story bay window and other building areas. 
 
Exterior alterations to building should be evaluated in accordance with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards 
for the Treatment of Historic Properties & the Standards for Rehabilitation (Exhibit 6).  
 
Evaluation Criteria 
In order to be included on the Historically Significant Structures Property List, a property must be located in the 
Historic Overlay District and the property or one (1) or more structures on the property must meet one (1) or 
more of the following criteria: 

1. It is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history 
2. It is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past 
3. It embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, or represents the work 

of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose 
components may lack individual distinction 

4. It yields, or may be likely to yield, information important to history or prehistory 
5. It has significance in local, regional, state or national history, architecture, archeology, engineering or culture 
6. It is a source of civic pride or identity for the community 
 
Background  
On September 20, 2022, the Village Board approved the following ordinances establishing a Historic Overlay 
District to assist property owners with the preservation, restoration, and rehabilitation of historically significant 
properties throughout the Village: 
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• Ordinance No. 2022-27: Ordinance Creating a New Part II (Historic Overlay District (HOD)) in Article VIII 
(Overlay Districts) of the Hinsdale Zoning Code to Establish a Historic Preservation Overlay District, making 
related Zoning Code Changes, and Amending Various Provisions of Title 14 (Historic Preservation) of the 
Village Code of Hinsdale relative to the Historic Preservation Overlay District  

• Ordinance No. 2022-28: Ordinance Amending the Official Zoning Map of the Village of Hinsdale to Create a 
New Historic Overlay Zoning District 

Owners of properties included on the Historically Significant Structures Property List may be eligible for voluntary 
preservation incentives to help with exterior improvements, the construction of a building addition, or other 
historic preservation projects, including: 

• Access to flexible alternative zoning regulations that not are afforded to new construction, including the 
waiving of floor area ratio (FAR) and building height, reduced setbacks, and increased lot coverage 

• Permit and application fee waivers 
• Expedited processing of applications 
• A property tax rebate for the Village portion of a tax bill 
• Matching grant funds 
 
Review Process 
Pursuant to Chapter 7 of Title 14 of the Village Code, the Historic Preservation Commission shall, using existing 
Village studies, historical materials and maps, and their own expertise, within one hundred eighty (180) days of 
approval of the Ordinance creating the Historic Overlay District, compile an Initial List of properties proposed for 
inclusion on the Historically Significant Structures Property List. 
 
Upon creation of the Initial List, the Historic Preservation Commission shall hold a public hearing or hearings 
relative to the Initial List pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 14-1-4(C) of Title 14. Public notice was 
provided in The Hinsdalean. The Historic Preservation Commission shall determine whether each property on the 
Initial List possesses one or more of the criteria set forth in Section 14-7-3(B) and make a recommendation to the 
Board of Trustees as to whether each property included on the Initial List should be included on the Historically 
Significant Structures Property List. The review criteria listed in Section 14-7-3(B) is attached for review. The 
recommendation of the Historic Preservation Commission shall be forwarded to the Board of Trustees for 
consideration. 
 
The Board of Trustees shall consider the recommendations of the Historic Preservation Commission and may 
approve or deny the inclusion of each property on the Initial List for inclusion on the Historically Significant 
Structures Property List. The Board of Trustees may also remand the Initial List, or individual properties on the 
Initial List, to the Historic Preservation Commission for further consideration or for additional information without 
further public hearing. 
 
Properties may be added or removed from the List at any point in time in accordance with the process listed in 
Section 14-7-3 of the Village Code. Property owners will be notified if their homes are included on the proposed 
Historically Significant Structures Property List. A Notice of Historically Significant Property will be recorded against 
the title of each property approved for inclusion on the Historically Significant Property List to help make future 
property owners aware of the availability of preservation incentives offered by the Village. Applying for and 
utilizing any preservation incentive is completely voluntary. 
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Attachments 
1. Exhibit 1 - Hinsdale Zoning Map & Historic Overlay District Map 
2. Exhibit 2 - Hinsdale Historic Surveys - Evaluation Information / Definitions 
3. Exhibit 3 - Review Criteria for Properties on the Historically Significant Structures Property List - Village Code 

Title 14, Chapter 7, Section 14-7-3(B) 
4. Exhibit 4 - Summary Table of Properties to be Considered for Inclusion on the Historically Significant 

Structures Property List (Amended to Include the HPC’s Determination for Criteria Met) 
5. Exhibit 5 - Detailed Property Information for 309 E. Chicago Avenue to be Considered for Inclusion on the 

Historically Significant Structures Property List 
6. Exhibit 6 - The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation 



NOTES

The boundaries of the Historic Overlay District 
includes the R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, B-1, B-2, O-1, O-2, 
IB, HS, and OS Districts. The O-3, B-3, R-5, or R-6 
Districts are excluded from the Overlay District.
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Hinsdale Historic Surveys – Evaluation Information & Ratings Definitions 
Selected areas of the community have been surveyed in the past to help determine the historic significance of 
properties in the Village. These surveys include the Reconnaissance Survey (1999), the Town of Hinsdale Survey 
(2001), the Robbins Park I Survey (2002), the Downtown Commercial District (2003), the North Hinsdale Survey 
(2005), the North East Hinsdale Survey (2006), and the Robbins Park II Survey (2007).  
 
If available, information collected from these surveys has been included for the properties being considered for 
the Historically Significant Structures Property List to determine eligibility for inclusion on the List.  
 
The survey sheets include a data form on each principal structure with such information as the building's use, 
condition, integrity, architectural style, construction date, architect or builder (if known), architectural features, 
and alterations. Photographs were taken of the main street façade of the building and any secondary structures 
on the site. Each building also receives a local rating, described below. 
 
The architectural integrity assesses what alterations to the original historic structure had occurred. Structures 
were considered unaltered if all or almost all of their historic features and materials were in place. Minor 
alterations are those considered by the field surveyor to be reversible. Generally, aluminum, vinyl, or other siding 
installed over original wood clapboard siding is considered a reversible alteration. Major alterations include 
irreversible changes and additions. These could include porches and other architectural detailing that have been 
completely removed and for which there is no actual physical evidence or photo documentation to accurately 
reproduce them; window changes in which the original window opening size has been altered and there is no 
evidence of the original sash configuration and material; and large, unsympathetic additions visible from the street 
that greatly compromise the historic character of a house. 
 
The surveys rate and use various classifications to determine the significance of a structure. The surveys classifies 
buildings as follows: 
• Local Significance – Buildings were evaluated based on the criteria for architectural significance as stated in 

the Hinsdale Historic Preservation Ordinance (Village Code, Title 14, Section 14-3-1) and the factors listed 
below. 
• Significant (S):  Indicates that the building may be eligible for listing as a local landmark and have local 

architectural importance to the community. Buildings are generally not considered locally significant if it 
has more than minor alterations, or if it had alterations that were considered irreversible. The following 
factors determine this rating: 
• Age. Must be at least 50 years old. 
• Architectural Merit. Must possess architectural distinction in one of the following when compared 

with other buildings of its type: architectural style or type valuable for a study of a period, style, 
method of construction, or use of indigenous materials; exceptional craftsmanship; work of a master 
builder or architect. 

• Integrity. Must have a high degree of integrity in its design, materials, workmanship, setting, 
location. feeling, and association, for example, most architectural detailing in place; no historic 
materials or details covered up; no unsympathetic and/or overpowering additions. In some cases 
buildings with modern siding materials were included if it was determined the siding could be 
removed 

• Contributing (C): Indicates that it is considered a contributing building in the locally designated historic 
district. These building are generally not individually architecturally distinctive by have identifiable 
characteristics of a historic building and contribute to the character of a locally designated historic district. 
The following factors determine this rating: 
• Age. Must be at least 50 years old. 
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• Architectural Merit. Does not necessarily possess individual distinction, but is a historic structure 
with the characteristic design and details of its period. 

• Integrity. May have a moderate degree of integrity, but is of a common design with no particular 
architectural distinction to set it apart from others of its type. 

• Non-Contributing (NC): Indicates a non-contributing building in the local historic district. Integrity, that is, 
the degree of original design and historic material remaining in place, was factored into the evaluation. 
These are generally buildings have are non-historic or have been so altered that they are no longer 
recognized as historic. The following factors determine this rating: 
• Age. Buildings less than 50 years old. 
• Integrity. Any building at least 50 years old whose integrity is so poor that all historic materials and 

details are missing or completely covered up and its historic massing and/or roofline cannot be 
discerned. Poor integrity was present if all these factors were missing: original shape and/or massing; 
original siding; original windows and window openings; original architectural detail and trim. 

 
• National Register of Historic Places Rating – Buildings were analyzed for potential individual National Register 

of Historic Places listing in consultation with the National Register Coordinator of the Illinois Historic 
Preservation Agency. An "N" (no) indicates that it would not. “Criteria” refers to the National Register criteria 
that were considered. A "Y" (yes) indicates that the surveyed building likely would be a good candidate for 
individual listing on the National Register.  The sub-ratings are defined as follows: 
• Eligible for Individual Listing (Y or N):  Must be a site, building, structure, or object that is at least 50 years 

old (unless it has achieved exceptional significance) and meets one of the following criteria: (a) it is 
associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history; (b) 
it may be associated with the lives of persons significant in our past; (c) it is architecturally significant, that 
is, embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, or represents the 
work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and distinguishable entity 
whose components may lack individual distinction. It must also possess integrity of location, design, 
setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and association. 

• Contributing to a Historic District (C):  
• Age. Must have been built or standing during the period of historic significance. 
• Integrity. Any building that possesses enough integrity to still be identified as historic.  

• Non-contributing to a Historic District (NC): 
• Age. Any building or secondary structure built after the period of significance or less than 50 years 

old. 
• Integrity. Any structure that has been so completely altered within the last 50 years that it is no longer 

recognizable as historic. 
 
• Other Notations: The notations under “listed on existing survey” include IHSS, which indicates the building 

was included in the Illinois Historic Structures Survey, completed by the State Historic Preservation Office in 
the early 1970s, or NRHP, which indicates that the building is individually listed on the National Register of 
Historic Places. There is also a field entitled Landmark List, which includes the following additional notations: 
• Arch Gems: Property noted in “The Village of Hinsdale: Architectural Gems,” a 1995 brochure published 

by the Hinsdale Architectural Society.  
• Arch Walks: Property noted in “The Village of Hinsdale: Architectural Walks,” a 1995 brochure published 

by the Hinsdale Architectural Society.  
• DCHI: Listed in the DuPage County Cultural and Historical Inventory. 
• HHS/plaque: Awarded a plaque by the Hinsdale Historical Society. 
• HHSF: Property has an individual file at the Hinsdale Historical Society. 
• HTB: Property mentioned in “Hinsdale the Beautiful,” Campbell’s Illustrated Journal, November 1897. 
• Zook: Listed in an unpublished inventory of homes in Hinsdale built by architect R. Harold Zook. 



Exhibit 3 

VILLAGE CODE TITLE 14 - HISTORIC PRESERVATION 
CHAPTER 7 - HISTORIC OVERLAY DISTRICT  
 
14-7-3: HISTORICALLY SIGNIFICANT STRUCTURES PROPERTY LIST: 

B.   Review Criteria. In order for a property to be deemed to host a Historically Significant Structure and 
be included on the Historically Significant Structures Property List, a property must be located within the 
Historic Overlay District and meet one (1) or more of the following criteria: 

1. The property or one (1) or more structures on the property are associated with events that have 
made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history; 

2. The property or one (1) or more structures on the property are associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past; 

3. One (1) or more structures on the property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, 
period, or method of construction, or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic 
values, or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual 
distinction; 

4. The property or one (1) or more structures on the property yields, or may be likely to yield, 
information important to history or prehistory; 

5. The property or one (1) or more structures on the property has significance in local, regional, state 
or national history, architecture, archeology, engineering or culture; or 

6. The property or one (1) or more structures on the property is a source of civic pride or identity for 
the community. 



 
Exhibit 4 

Full Address 
Date 
Constructed 

Architectural 
Style Architect Historic Name Historic Significance Land Use  

Zoning 
District PIN(s) County 

Review Criteria Met Per Section 14-
7-3(B) - HPC Public Hearing 
Recommendation 2/1/2023 

122 S. Adams Street 1886 Gable Front     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Designated Local 
Landmark (Ord. No. O2001-33) Single-Family R-4 09-11-211-012 DuPage 5 

25 E. Ayres Street 1896 Queen Anne   Boetinger House 
Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant Single-Family R-4 09-01-305-006 DuPage 5 

309 E. Chicago Avenue c. 1890 Queen Anne     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; Robbins Park I Survey (2002) - 
Contributing;  Significant renovations in 
2022-2023 Single-Family R-4 09-01-420-014 DuPage 

N/A – Continued Review at Public 
Hearing on 3/1/2023 

46 S. County Line Road 1928 Tudor Revival R. Harold Zook  S.B. Smith House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant ; Robbins Park I 
Survey (2002) – Significant Single-Family R-1 09-12-206-019 DuPage 2, 3, 5 

121 S. County Line Road  1894 Dutch Colonial 
Frank Lloyd 
Wright 

Frederick P. & 
Grace H. Bagley 
House 

Designated Local Landmark (Ord. No. 
O2022-13) Single-Family R-1 

18-07-105-007-
0000 Cook 2, 3, 5, 6 

505 S. County Line Road 1902 Classical Revival   L.H. Freer House  

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Additional 
information provided by Hinsdale 
Historical Society and representative of 
owner  Single-Family R-1 

18-07-115-036-
0000; 18-07-115-
037-0000; 18-07-
115-038-0000 Cook 2, 3, 5, 6 

644 S. County Line Road 1928 Colonial Revival M. Harlow Jr.  
George Burnell 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) -  
Significant / Historically Significant;  
Robbins Park II Survey (2007) – Significant Single-Family R-1 09-12-403-017 DuPage 5, 6 

5901 S. County Line Road 1924 Tudor Revival R. Harold Zook  
R. Harold Zook 
Home and Studio 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Robbins Park I 
Survey (2002) - Significant (Survey sheets 
when property was located at 327 S. Oak 
Street) 

Vacant - 
Former Single-
Family OS 

18-18-108-001-
0000; 18-18-300-
001-0000 Cook 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 

24 E. Eighth Street 1929 Colonial Revival Harford Field 
Harford Field 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; Robbins Park II Survey (2007) - 
Significant; Additional information 
provided by Michael Abraham's office Single-Family R-2 09-12-317-003 DuPage 2 

209 N. Elm Street c. 1910 Colonial Revival     
North East Hinsdale Survey (2006) – 
Contributing Single-Family R-4 09-01-412-007 DuPage 2, 3, 5 

425 S. Elm Street 1925 French Eclectic Paul G. Burt 
Paul G. Burt 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) – 
Significant / Historically Significant; 
Robbins Park II (2007) – Significant; Side 
addition completed in 2022 Single-Family R-1 09-12-225-019 DuPage 5 

740 S. Elm Street 1940 French Eclectic Phillip Duke West 
George Bunker 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Robbins Park II 
Survey (2007) – Significant Single-Family R-1 09-12-405-016 DuPage 2, 3, 5 

33 E. Fifth Street  1892 Queen Anne   

Charles H. 
Crossette House / 
R.F. Shinn  

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Historically Significant / Potentially 
Contributing; Town of Hinsdale Survey 
(2001) - Potentially Significant / 
Contributing Single-Family R-4 09-12-132-021 DuPage 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 



 
Exhibit 4 

Full Address 
Date 
Constructed 

Architectural 
Style Architect Historic Name Historic Significance Land Use  

Zoning 
District PIN(s) County 

Review Criteria Met Per Section 14-
7-3(B) - HPC Public Hearing 
Recommendation 2/1/2023 

132 E. Fifth Street 1881 No Style (Altered) 

Remodeled by R. 
Harold Zook in 
1927 

John W. Bushnell 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) – 
Potentially Contributing / Historically 
Significant; Robbins Park II (2007) – 
Contributing with Alterations Single-Family R-1 09-12-223-005 DuPage 2, 3, 5 

145 E. Fifth Street 1925 French Eclectic Alfred F. Pashley 
Ms. K. Besley 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; Robbins Park II Survey (2007) – 
Significant Single-Family R-1 09-12-215-020 DuPage 5 

317 E. First Street 1888 Queen Anne   
Charles and Mary 
Mihm House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Robbins Park I 
Survey (2002) – Contributing Single-Family R-1 09-12-204-016 DuPage 5 

131 N. Garfield Avenue 1924 Colonial Revival   
F.W. Millington 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; North East Hinsdale Survey 
(2006) - Significant Single-Family R-4 09-01-414-002 DuPage 5 

518 S. Garfield Avenue c. 1925 French Eclectic     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Contributing; Town of Hinsdale Survey 
(2001) - Significant Single-Family R-4 09-12-133-014 DuPage 5 

217 W. Hickory Street 1875 Gabled Ell     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; North Hinsdale Survey (2005) - 
Contributing Single-Family R-4 09-01-311-016 DuPage 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 

111 N. Lincoln Street 1894 Shingle Style   
George Smith 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; North Hinsdale Survey (2005) - 
Significant Single-Family R-4 09-01-325-005 DuPage 5 

510 N. Lincoln Street 1911 
Craftsman 
Bungalow     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; Additional information 
provided by owner Single-Family R-4 09-01-303-006 DuPage 5 

307 S. Lincoln Street 1894 
Colonial Revival / 
Queen Anne   

Lawrence & 
Isabel Conover 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Town of Hinsdale 
Survey (2001) - Potentially Significant / 
Contributing Single-Family R-4 09-12-124-001 DuPage 5 

515 S. Lincoln Street 1896 Colonial Revival     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; Town of  Hinsdale Survey 
(2001) - Potentially Significant / 
Contributing Single-Family R-4 09-12-126-002 DuPage 5 

833 S. Lincoln Street 1927 Tudor Revival     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant;  Robbins Park II Survey (2007) - 
Significant Single-Family R-2 09-12-316-006 DuPage 5 

807 McKinley Lane 1927 Tudor Revival 
William G. 
Barfield   

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant;  Building Permits Single-Family R-1 

18-07-304-008-
0000 Cook 5 

23 S. Oak Street c. 1910 Prairie School     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; Robbins Park I Survey (2002) - 
Significant Single-Family R-4 09-12-206-005 DuPage 5 

35 S. Oak Street c. 1910 Craftsman     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Historically Significant / Significant;  
Robbins Park I Survey (2002) - Significant Single-Family R-4 09-12-206-007 DuPage 5 
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Full Address 
Date 
Constructed 

Architectural 
Style Architect Historic Name Historic Significance Land Use  

Zoning 
District PIN(s) County 

Review Criteria Met Per Section 14-
7-3(B) - HPC Public Hearing 
Recommendation 2/1/2023 

711 S. Oak Street 1937 Colonial Revival Frazier & Raftery 
Mr. & Mrs. Frank 
Foss House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Robbins Park II 
Survey (2007) – Significant; Information / 
Website Links on Frank Foss, Gold Medal 
Winner of the 1920 Summer Olympics for 
Pole Vaulting, Provided by Property Owner Single-Family R-1 09-12-407-014 DuPage 2, 5 

728 S. Oak Street 1927 French Eclectic F.E. Morency 
F.E. Morency 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; Robbins Park II Survey (2007) - 
Significant Single-Family R-1 09-12-406-014 DuPage 5 

420 S. Park Avenue 1924 French Eclectic Alfred F. Pashley 
Mrs. Charles 
Besley House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ National Register / Historically 
Significant; Robbins Park II Survey (2007) - 
Significant Single-Family R-1 09-12-215-018 DuPage 2, 3, 5 

640 S. Park Avenue c. 1915 Colonial Revival     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Contributing; Robbins Park II Survey 
(2007) - Contributing Single-Family R-1 09-12-400-018 DuPage 2, 5 

420 E. Seventh Street 1929 
Mediterranean 
Revival Kriston 

W.M. Hogenson 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ National Register / Historically 
Significant; Robbins Park II Survey (2007) - 
Significant Single-Family R-1 09-12-407-002 DuPage 5 

138 E. Sixth Street 1931 Colonial Revival   H.A. Miller House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) – 
Contributing / Historically Significant; 
Robbins Park II (2007) – Potentially 
Significant  Single-Family R-1 09-12-400-006 DuPage 5 

222 E. Sixth Street 1892 Classical Revival   
J.C.S. Merrill 
House 

 Reconnaissance Survey (1999) – 
Significant / National Register / Historically 
Significant; Robbins Park II (2007) – 
Contributing Single-Family R-1 09-12-401-008 DuPage 2, 5 

114 S. Stough Street 1891 Shingle   
Raftree 
Residence 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Additional 
information provided by owner Single-Family R-4 

09-11-208-009; 
09-11-208-010 DuPage 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 

701 Taft Road 1959 Modern 

George Fred Keck 
& William Keck – 
plans in 1959 and 
1971 addition by 
Keck & Keck Avedisian House  

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Non-Contributing due to age at time of 
survey; Designated Local Landmark (Ord. 
No. O2023-02) Single-Family R-1 

18-07-305-001-
0000 Cook 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 

810 Taft Road c. 1910 Tudor Revival     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant;  Additional 
information provided by Hinsdale 
Historical Society (Realtor Card 1964) Single-Family R-1 

18-07-304-017-
0000 Cook 5 

148 The Lane 1930 

Cape Cod / 
Colonial Revival 
Cottage V.L. Morris  V.L. Morris House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Contributing; North East Hinsdale Survey 
(2006) - Significant Single-Family R-4 09-01-400-009 DuPage 5 

222 E. Third Street 1892 Queen Anne   

Thomas and 
Sallie Phillips 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Robbins Park I 
Survey (2002) - Significant Single-Family R-1 09-12-212-014 DuPage 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 
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Full Address 
Date 
Constructed 

Architectural 
Style Architect Historic Name Historic Significance Land Use  

Zoning 
District PIN(s) County 

Review Criteria Met Per Section 14-
7-3(B) - HPC Public Hearing 
Recommendation 2/1/2023 

417 E. Third Street 1895 Classical Revival 
R. Harold Zook 
(1938 Remodel) 

Esther W.J. 
Barker House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Robbins Park I 
Survey (2002) - Significant Single-Family R-1 09-12-210-011 DuPage 2, 5 

433 E. Third Street c. 1910 Craftsman     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; Robbins Park I 
Survey (2002) - Significant Single-Family R-1 09-12-210-013 DuPage 5 

434 E. Third Street 1927 / 1998 Tudor Revival 
R. Harold Zook / 
McCoughey 

N. H. Whiteside 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Not 
Contributing; Robbins Park I Survey (2002) 
- Not Contributing; Front of house has 
been significantly altered; rear addition 
constructed  Single-Family R-1 09-12-214-006 DuPage 2 

605 E. Third Street c. 1935 Tudor Revival     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant;  Rear addition to match 
original house added in 1990s Single-Family R-1 

18-07-106-004-
0000 Cook 5 

132 N. Vine Street 1882 L-Form   
Oliver J. Stough 
House 

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant 
/ Historically Significant; North  Hinsdale 
Survey (2005) - Significant Single-Family R-4 09-01-322-006 DuPage 2, 5 

239 E. Walnut Street 1889 Queen Anne Patton & Fisher 
James Ridgeway 
House 

Designated Local Landmark (Ord. No. 
O2004-28); Reconnaissance Survey (1999) 
- Significant / Historically Significant; North 
East Hinsdale Survey (2006) - Significant Single-Family R-4 09-01-411-022 DuPage 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 

640 N. Washington Street c. 1910 Colonial Revival     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Significant; Additional information 
provided by Hinsdale Historical Society Single-Family R-4 09-01-119-024 DuPage 5 

711 S. Washington Street c. 1920 
Dutch Colonial 
Revival     

Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - 
Contributing; Robbins Park II Survey 
(2007) - Contributing Single-Family R-2 09-12-311-019 DuPage 2, 5 

 



Village of Hinsdale 
Community Development Department 

19 E. Chicago Avenue 
Hinsdale, Illinois 60521 

 (630) 789-7030 
 

 
HISTORICALLY SIGNIFICANT STRUCTURES PROPERTY LIST  

PROPERTY INFORMATION SHEET 
 

Address 
309 E. Chicago Avenue 

 

County 
DuPage 

PIN / Parcel Number 
09-01-420-014 

Zoning District 
R-4 Single Family Zoning District 

Land Use 
Single Family 

Historic Name 
N/A 

Architect 
N/A 

Date Constructed 
c. 1890 

Architectural Style 
Queen Anne  

Past Historic Surveys / Historic Significance 
• Reconnaissance Survey (1999) - Significant  
• Robbins Park I Survey (2002) - Contributing 
• Significant exterior renovations in 2022/2023 

 
  



Robbins Park I Survey (2002)





309 E. Chicago – Changes to Building Elevations Under Current Renovation Project - Plans Provided by Property Owner 

 

Rendering of Front / South Elevation 



 

 



 

Front / South Elevation 



 

Front / South With Partial East / Side Elevation 



 

 

 

 



 



 

West Elevation 

 

 



 

West Elevation 

 



 





Proposed Site Plan 
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Google Street View – October 2019 



Aerial View – March 2021  

 

  



Birds Eye View – March 2021 

 

Looking North 



Birds Eye View – March 2021 

 
Looking West 

 
Looking South 



 

The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation  
The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation are widely accepted as the basis for how historic 
buildings should be rehabilitated and are regularly used at the federal, state, and local levels to guide and 
evaluate the appropriateness of repairs, alterations, and construction work. The Standards allow buildings to 
be changed to meet contemporary needs, while ensuring that those features that make buildings historically 
and architecturally distinctive are preserved. The following Standards are to be applied to specific 
rehabilitation projects in a reasonable manner, taking into consideration economic and technical feasibility. 

1. A property shall be used for its historic purpose or be placed in a new use that requires minimal 
change to the defining characteristics of the building and its site and environment. 

2. The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic materials 
or alteration of features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided. 

3. Each property shall be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use. Changes that 
create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural 
elements from other buildings, shall not be undertaken. 

4. Most properties change over time; those changes that have acquired historic significance in their own 
right shall be retained and preserved. 

5. Distinctive features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of craftsmanship that 
characterize a historic property shall be preserved. 

6. Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 
deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature shall match the old in 
design, color, texture, and other visual qualities and, where possible, materials. Replacement of 
missing features shall be substantiated by documentary, physical, or pictorial evidence. 

7. Chemical or physical treatments, such as sandblasting, that cause damage to historic materials shall 
not be used. The surface cleaning of structures, if appropriate, shall be undertaken using the gentlest 
means possible. 

8. Significant archeological resources affected by a project shall be protected and preserved. If such 
resources must be disturbed, mitigation measures shall be undertaken. 

9. New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not destroy historic materials that 
characterize the property. The new work shall be differentiated from the old and shall be compatible 
with the massing, size, scale, and architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property 
and its environment. 

10. New additions and adjacent or related new construction shall be undertaken in such a manner that if 
removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic property and its environment 
would be unimpaired. 
 

The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation & Illustrated Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic 
Buildings is available to download from the following link on National Park Service’s website: 
https://www.nps.gov/tps/standards/rehabilitation/rehabilitation-guidelines.pdf 

A separate document, The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation & Illustrated Guidelines on 
Sustainability for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings, has also been prepared to provide recommendations and 
guidance on making historic buildings more sustainable while simultaneously preserving their historic 
character. The document is available to download from the following link on National Park Service’s website: 
https://www.nps.gov/tps/standards/rehabilitation/sustainability-guidelines.pdf  

The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties with Guidelines for 
Preserving, Rehabilitating, Restoring, and Reconstructing Historic Buildings also provides practical guidance 
on the preservation, rehabilitation, restoration, and reconstruction of historic buildings. The full document 
may be downloaded from the following link on National Park Service’s website: 
https://www.nps.gov/tps/standards/treatment-guidelines-2017.pdf 

https://www.nps.gov/tps/standards/rehabilitation/rehabilitation-guidelines.pdf
https://www.nps.gov/tps/standards/rehabilitation/sustainability-guidelines.pdf
https://www.nps.gov/tps/standards/treatment-guidelines-2017.pdf
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              MEMORANDUM 

DATE:   February 24, 2023 

TO:   Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC:  Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 

RE:  Case HPC-3-2022 – 20 E. Maple Street – Hinsdale Public Library – Application for a Certificate of 
Appropriateness for a Designated Local Landmark to allow for the Replacement of Windows and 
an Entrance Door on the Memorial Building  

FOR: March 1, 2023 Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 
___________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary 
The Village of Hinsdale has received a Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) application from the Hinsdale Public 
Library requesting approval to replace eighty (80) windows and the main entrance door on building located at 20 
E. Maple Street. The Hinsdale Public Library operates in west side of the Memorial Building at 19 E. Chicago 
Avenue, but has a separate address of 20 E. Maple Street. 
 
Per the Village Code, no alteration shall be allowed and permits shall be issued for any physical modifications of 
the exterior architectural appearance of a designated landmark without the prior issuance of a Certificate of 
Appropriateness by the Historic Preservation Commission. 
 
Background 
On February 6, 2001 by Ordinance No. O2001-6, the Memorial Building was designated as a local landmark. 
Designed by Chicago architect Edwin H. Clarke, the brick, 2½-story building features Colonial Revival architecture 
and was originally constructed in 1927. Since its completion, the Memorial Building has undergone several 
additions and renovations. The east wing was constructed in 1969 and the west wing in 1974.  The northwest 
addition, which currently houses the Library was constructed in 1989. The building is classified as a Contributing 
Structure in the Downtown Hinsdale Historic District according to the 2006 National Register of Historic Places 
Nomination and Significant according to the 2003 Architectural Resources in the Downtown Survey Area.  
 
The property is located in the IB Institutional Building District and is surrounded by single-family homes to the 
north and east in the R-4 Single Family Residential District, a senior living facility to the west in the R-5 Multiple 
Family Residential District, a bank to the west in the B-1 Community Business District, Burlington Park to the south 
in the OS Open Space District, and the Post Office and Village-owned parking lot to the east in the IB Institutional 
Building District. 
 
Request and Analysis 
The Hinsdale Public Library requests approval to replace a total of eighty (80) windows on the lower level, first 
floor and second floor of the western side of the building. The existing windows are not original to the building 
and were installed as part of the 1988 Library addition.  
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              MEMORANDUM 

The proposed fixed windows, manufactured by Winco Window, will be constructed of aluminum that matches the 
off-white color of the existing windows on the Memorial Building. All windows are designed with exterior muntins 
that incorporate a similar profile and design to the historic wood windows. With the exception of the smaller 
second floor windows and the central accent windows on the south elevation, the majority are 12-over-12 double 
hung windows. The double hung windows are fixed, meaning they will maintain the original historic appearance, 
but will not be operable. No historic wood windows are being replaced as part of this project.  
 
The Library is also requesting to install new wood doors at the main entrance on the west side of the circle drive 
accessible from Maple Street. According to the applicant, the existing doors were installed as part of the 2008 
renovation.  New wood doors will be installed that match the style and wood stain color of the existing door.  
 
Process 
Pursuant to Title 14, Section 14-5-1(A), no alteration shall be allowed to, and no permits shall be issued for, the 
alteration, demolition, signage, or any other physical modifications of the exterior architectural appearance of a 
designated landmark without the prior issuance of a Certificate of Appropriateness.  
 
Applications for a Certificate of Appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards set forth in Village Code 
Title 14, Section 14-5-2, which are attached for review. The review process and decisions of the Historic 
Preservation Commission related to a Certificate of Appropriateness for a Landmark are listed in Title 14, Section 
14-5-4 and Section 14-5-5.  
 
Attachments 
1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Aerial View  
3. Birds Eye View 
4. Certificate of Appropriateness Review Criteria - Village Code Title 14, Section 14-5-2  
5. Ordinance No. O2001-6 – Landmark Designation Ordinance for the Memorial Building 
6. Memorial Building History - Information from the Village of Hinsdale Website, Village Files, Excerpts from the 

2003 Architectural Resources in the Downtown Survey Area Document by Historic Certification Consultants 
7. Application for Certificate of Appropriateness and Exhibits 



Village of Hinsdale Zoning Map and Project Location  
 
 

 

20 E. Maple Street / 
 19 E. Chicago Avenue 



Village of Hinsdale Zoning Map and Project Location 
 

  

 

20 E. Maple Street / 
 19 E. Chicago Avenue 



Aerial View – 20 E. Maple Street / 19 E. Chicago Avenue 
 

 

  



Birds Eye View – 20 E. Maple Street / 19 E. Chicago Avenue 
 

 

 

 



Birds Eye View – 20 E. Maple Street / 19 E. Chicago Avenue 
 

 

 

 



Birds Eye View – 20 E. Maple Street / 19 E. Chicago Avenue 
 

 

 



CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS REVIEW CRITERIA  
VILLAGE CODE TITLE 14, SECTION 14-5-2 
 
14-5-2: CRITERIA: 

All applications for a certificate of appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards in this 
section. 
 
A. General Standards: 

1. Alterations that do not affect any essential architectural or historic features of a structure or 
building as viewed from a public or private street ordinarily should be permitted. 

2. The distinguishing original qualities or character of a structure, building, or site and its 
environment should not be destroyed. No alteration or demolition of any historic material or 
distinctive architectural feature should be permitted except when necessary to assure an 
economically viable use of a site. 

3. All structures, buildings, sites, and areas should be recognized as products of their own time. 
Alterations that have no historical basis and that seek to create an earlier appearance than the 
true age of the property are discouraged. 

4. Changes that may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and 
development of a structure, building, or site and its environment. These changes may have 
acquired significance in their own right, and this significance should be recognized and 
respected when dealing with a specific architectural period. 

5. Distinctive stylistic features or examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a structure, 
building, site, or area should ordinarily be maintained and preserved. 

6. Deteriorated architectural features should be repaired rather than replaced, whenever possible. 
In the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being 
replaced in composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. Repair or replacement 
of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of features, 
substantiated by historic, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs or the 
availability of different architectural elements from other buildings or structures. 

7. The surface cleaning of structures and buildings should be undertaken with the gentlest means 
possible. Sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will damage the structures and 
buildings should be avoided. 

8. New structures or buildings, or alterations to sites should not be discouraged when such 
structures or alterations do not destroy significant historical or architectural features and are 
compatible with the size, scale, color, material, and character of the site, neighborhood, or 
environment. 

9. Whenever possible, new structures or buildings, or alterations to the existing conditions of sites 
should be done in such a manner that, if such new structures or alterations were to be removed 
in the future, the essential form and integrity of the original structure, building, site, or area 
would be unimpaired. 

10. Any permitted alteration or demolition should promote the purposes of this Title and general 
welfare of the Village and its residents. 

11. Demolition should not be permitted if a structure, building, or site is economically viable in its 
present condition or could be economically viable after completion of appropriate alterations, 
even if demolition would permit a more profitable use of such site. 
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B. Design Standards: 

1. Height: The height of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with the height of the 
original landmark. The height of a structure or building and adjacent open spaces after any 
proposed alteration or construction within an historic district should be compatible with the style 
and character of the structure or building and with surrounding structures and buildings in an 
historic district. 

2. Relationship Between Mass And Open Space: The relationship between a landmark and 
adjacent open spaces after its alteration should be compatible with such relationship prior to 
such alteration. The relationship between a structure or building and adjacent open spaces after 
alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the relationship between 
surrounding structures, buildings and adjacent open spaces within such historic district. 

3. Relationship Among Height, Width And Scale: The relationship among the height, width, and 
scale of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with such relationship prior to such 
alteration. The relationship among height, width, and scale of a structure or building after an 
alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the relationship among height, 
width, and scale of surrounding structures and buildings within such historic district. 

4. Directional Expression: The directional expressions of a landmark after alteration, whether its 
vertical or horizontal positioning, should be compatible with the directional expression of the 
original landmark. The directional expression of a structure or building after alteration within an 
historic district should be compatible with the directional expression of surrounding structures 
and buildings within such historic district. 

5. Roof Shape: The roof shape of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with the roof 
shape of the original landmark. The roof shape of a structure, building, or object after alteration 
within an historic district should be compatible with the roof shape of surrounding structures and 
buildings within such historic district. 

6. Architectural Details, General Designs, Materials, Textures, And Colors: The architectural 
details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of a landmark after alteration should be 
compatible with the architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of the 
original landmark. The architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of a 
structure or building after alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the 
architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of surrounding structures 
and buildings within such historic district. 

7. Landscape And Appurtenances: The landscape and appurtenances, including without limitation 
signs, fences, accessory structures, and pavings, of a landmark after alteration should be 
compatible with the landscape and appurtenances of the original landmark. The landscape and 
appurtenances of a structure or building after alteration within an historic district should be 
compatible with the landscape and appurtenances of surrounding structures and buildings 
within such historic district. 

8. Construction: New construction in an historic district should be compatible with the architectural 
styles, design standards and streetscapes within such historic districts. 

 

C. Additional Standards: In addition to the foregoing standards, the commission may consider the 
secretary of the interior's standards for rehabilitation guidelines for rehabilitating historic buildings 
(revised 1983), and any amendments thereto, in reviewing any application under this section.  

 













The Memorial Building – 19 E. Chicago Avenue 
Information from the Village of Hinsdale Website and Village Files 

 

 
19 East Chicago Avenue – Memorial Building dedication, 1928, photo courtesy Dick Reel, The Doings 

 
The Memorial Building was originally conceived in 1927 as a tribute to soldiers from Hinsdale who were 
killed in World War I.  The building also memorializes those who were killed in World War II, the Korean 
and Vietnam Conflicts.  The building’s hilltop location had been identified in a master plan done for the 
Village by noted architect George Maher, who called the site Hinsdale’s “natural front yard”.  The 
building was built and paid for entirely by the citizens of Hinsdale, with more than 2,000 people 
contributing to the original $171,000 cost.  The design, by Chicago architect Edwin H. Clarke, is based 
on Philadelphia’s Independence Hall.   
 
The Memorial Building originally housed a number of rooms for local organizations, the Village offices, 
and the Public Library.  Also, the foyer at the heart of the building, “the shrine of memory”, contains a 
commemorative work by noted sculptor Oskar Hansen.  Since its completion, the Memorial Building 
has undergone several additions and renovations.  The east wing was constructed in 1969, and the 
west wing in 1974.  The northwest addition, housing the Library was constructed in 1989.  The 
Memorial Building has always stood, both literally and figuratively, at the heart of Hinsdale. 
  
The brick, 2 ½-story structure is a fine example of Colonial Revival design.  A classic cornice above the 
second story windows on the original building is decorated with modillions and moldings.  Four columns 
with ornate capitals support a central pedimented pavilion on the south (primary) elevation.  Bedford 
stone sills and lintels define the windows and form two belt-courses around the building.  Large, multi-
paned windows in the central pavilion of the north elevation have round-arched tops.  The building also 
has a tall Colonial Revival cupola that contains a clock tower.  
 
The Village Board designated the property as a Historic Landmark on February 6, 2001 by adopting 
Ordinance O2001-6, making the Memorial Building the first local Historic Landmark in the Village. 
 



 
Aerial view c. 1940 - Photograph courtesy of Hinsdale Historical Society 

 

 
View of 19 E. Chicago Avenue from Maple Street, portion of original Memorial Building construction. 
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of Campbell’s Illustrated Journal. This journal included a description of “Hinsdale’s Business Houses” 
and a business directory. Many of Hinsdale’s most impressive commercial buildings were illustrated in that 
issue, including the following in the survey area:    
 
Fox Brothers’ Building, 34-36 S. Washington Street (SW corner Washington and Hinsdale) 
Papenhausen’s Building, 102 S. Washington Street (SW corner Washington and First) 
John Bohlander & Son’s Hardware Store, 42 S. Washington Street 
William Evernden’s Drug Store, 40 S. Washington Street 
Fox Brothers Building (remodeled), 49-51 S. Washington Street 
Buchholz Building, 13 W. First Street 
 
By the turn of the 20th century, the cluster of commercial buildings grew, with development spilling onto 
Hinsdale (Exchange) Avenue, which paralleled the tracks, and onto First Street, located one block south of 
the train station. Although new commercial buildings were constructed, development pressures also forced 
the conversion of domestic structures along First Street into commercial uses. These gable-front buildings 
include 8 W. First Street, 17 W. First Street, 18 W. First Street, and 19 W. First Street. In 1898, a new 
train station, with the latest conveniences complete with waiting room and baggage room, was built a block 
east of the old one. By 1910, Hinsdale’s downtown was principally located between Hinsdale Avenue 
(Exchange Street) on the north, the south side of First Street to the south, Lincoln Street to the west, and 
the alley between Washington Street and Garfield Street on the east. Banks, including the Hinsdale Trust 
and Savings Bank at 8 W. Hinsdale Avenue, opened at this time, and branch offices of the Western United 
Gas and Electric Company at 14 E. Hinsdale Avenue (originally the LaGrange Gas Company when 
constructed in 1903) and the Chicago Telephone Company located in downtown Hinsdale [1909 and 1965 
Sanborn Maps; Ziegweid, 63].  Hinsdale’s first telephone switchboard operated out of McGee’s Drugstore 
at 49 S. Washington Street [Bakken, 175-176]. 
 
MUNICIPAL AND GOVERNMENT BUILDINGS EXPAND THE CORE 
 
The first water works, built during the 1890s, was one of the first major nonresidential projects north of the 
tracks [Bakken, 153]. In the 19th century, very little commercial activity took place in this part of Hinsdale. 
The few exceptions were businesses that made heavy use of the trains’ freight service, such as F. W. 
Graue’s feed mill and George Boger’s wood and coal yard, both adjacent to the tracks just west of Lincoln 
Street; J. Bohlander and Son’s feed mill and wood and coal yard, also adjacent to the tracks just west of 
Garfield Street; and a lumber shed on the corner of Chicago and Washington [1898 Sanborn Maps].  
 
Another important exception north of the tracks was the Hinsdale Hotel, later known as the Park Hotel. The 
proprietors, Charles P. and Thomas B. Clarke, built the hotel along the west side of Washington Street in 
1867. It operated as a hotel for 50 years, until 1908. In 1911 the building was cut in half and moved to two 
separate locations (NE corner of Madison and Chestnut and 549 York Road [Baaken, 62]). Also at this 
time, there were a number of early auto-related businesses to the north of the tracks on the former Park 
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Hotel property [1909 Sanborn Map]. This was for the most part the natural expansion of a growing 
community, but during the 1920s the villagers made a concerted effort to influence and control this 
expansion.  
 

During the 1920s, it was felt by many of the residents 
that Hinsdale ought to have a memorial to its fallen 
soldiers. Around the same time, one of the local auto 
dealers, M. Fleck, the partner with Edward F. 
Buchholz in the local Ford dealership, proposed to 
build “the largest (automobile garage) east of the 
Mississippi” on the lots directly north of the Brush 
Hill Depot [DuPage County Cultural and 
Historical Inventory, 32; Bakken, 92]. The village 
and its planners had a very different idea.  
 
In 1924, the renowned architectural firm of George 
W. Maher & Son was retained to create a plan for 
Hinsdale’s downtown. This plan, among other things, 
called for expanding the downtown core north 
across the tracks by creating a new focal point, the 
Village Hall. Central to the plan was the lowering of 
the unsightly railroad tracks and shifting the heart of 
downtown eastward from Washington Street. Maher 
felt that the railroad tracks were an architectural 
problem for many suburban communities that grew 
up along the railroad, and wished to remedy the 
situation with a new plan for development. For 
Hinsdale, his firm sketched an axial plan that 
stretched across the tracks from Village Place (an 
alley that would be widened), to a landscaped 
memorial plaza with paths and fountain, surrounded 

by two community buildings and the village hall [Maher, 234-236]. The tracks were never lowered and the 
plan for a Hinsdale Community center was not fully executed.  However, after an aggressive fundraising 
drive by the president of City National Bank & Trust, Philip R. Clarke, the villagers privately raised the 
money for the construction of the Memorial Building [DuPage County Cultural and Historical Inventory, 
32].   
 
Prior to the construction of the Memorial Building, two brothers owned houses on the property. The older 
of the two homes, built before 1891, was the house of C. T. Warren. The house to the north of it, built 
between 1891 and 1898, belonged to C. C. Warren [1891, 1898 Sanborn Maps; 1902 Chicago Blue 

George Maher & Son's 1924 Plan for Hinsdale 
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S. Washington Street. He was a long-time resident of Hinsdale, and spent the latter part of his life at his 
home at 112 N. Lincoln Street [Who’s Who in Chicago and Vicinity, 59].  
 
Edwin Hill Clark (b. April 11, 1878, Chicago, IL – d. January 1967) was a graduate of Phillips Academy 
in Andover, MA and Yale University (Ph.B. 1900). He began the practice of architecture in 1903 in the 
offices of William A. Otis, and was made a member of the firm of Otis & Clark in 1908. In 1920, he began 
a partnership with Walcott, with whom he practiced until 1924, when he began designing on his own. 
According to the Art Institute of Chicago, his most prominent works include the Chicago Zoological Park, 
the Lincoln Park Administration Building, the Primate House, and the Aquarium, the Winnetka Village Hall, 
and the Hinsdale Memorial Building. In addition to designing institutional buildings, he was a prolific 
residential architect, designing private residences in the Chicago area and throughout the United States 
[Who’s Who in Chicago and Vicinity, 195.] 
 
Philip Duke West (b. May 2, 1905, Calumet, MI – d. November 16, 1974, Palm Desert, CA) was a 
local Hinsdale architect who was educated at the University of Michigan (B.S. Arch, 1929) and was 
employed as a designer, draftsman, and superintendent at a number of prestigious Chicago architecture 
firms including Holabird & Root (1926-1930), Philip Maher (1930-1931), and Schmidt, Garden & 
Erickson (1944-1945). Additionally, he was the chief architect for Butler Brothers (1945-1947).  In 1947 
in Hinsdale, he started his own firm, Philip Duke West, and designed and built his office at 33 E. First Street 
in 1950. Philip Duke West designed a number of prominent buildings in the 1930s, 1940s, and 1950s, 
including the Hinsdale Police and Fire Station Building at 33 E. First Street (1935), the Sinnissippi Farm, 
Oregon, Illinois (1950), the Kankakee (Illinois) Daily Journal Building (1951), and the Oak Park (Illinois) 
YMCA (1953-1954). In addition to his own office and the Police and Fire Station, other buildings designed 
by Philip West in Hinsdale include the handsome International Style professional office building at 111 S. 
Lincoln Street (1955). He later formed a partnership with Donald Hill Bergstrom, called Philip West, 
Donald Bergstrom & Associates.  This firm designed the Hinsdale Police Station at 121 Symonds Drive 
(1969) and the Hinsdale Fire Station at 123 Symonds Drive (1969). In 1967, he retired to Palm Desert, 
CA, where he died seven years later. Philip West was a prominent member of the Hinsdale community and 
also served on the Hinsdale Plan Commission beginning in 1950. 
 
R. Harold Zook (1889-1949) was a Hinsdale resident, and is known to have designed 31 homes and six 
commercial buildings in Hinsdale. His buildings are charmingly unique and superbly crafted. They often 
display signature features including thatched roofs, spider web windows and leaded-glass, V-shaped 
windows that protrude like the prow of a ship, chevron-patterned doors, and layered moldings.  He also 
designed some Tudor Revival-style homes with slate roofs. 
 
Born in Indiana in 1889, he received his degree in architecture from the Armour Institute of Technology 
(now IIT). He began his career with Howard Van Doren Shaw and later opened his own offices in 
Chicago. In 1924, Zook and his family moved to Hinsdale to a home he designed at 327 S. Oak Street. 
From 1932 until his death in 1949, he was chairman of the architectural committee of the Hinsdale Plan 
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The Village Gas Station at 50 S. Garfield Street is the oldest standing Gas Station in Downtown Hinsdale, 
having been built in 1929 for the Brewer Brothers. Locally prominent architect Harold Zook was chosen as 
its designer and the result is a handsome Colonial Revival building that contains the office and garage. The 
brick building has a cross gable slate roof with cornice, frieze, and dentil trim. There is a cupola with belcast 
roof, multi-light windows, and classical door surrounds. Unfortunately, a 1990s canopy over the gas pumps 
detracts from its historic integrity. 
 
Commercial Garages in the survey area appear to have been built in Hinsdale between the 1920s and 
1950s. Three automobile service garages are located in the survey area, with one ranked locally contributing 
and two ranked non-contributing.  There are also several One- or Two-Part Commercial Blocks that 
originally housed automobile showrooms or repair shops, but are now retail storefronts or offices. These 
include 10 W. Chicago Avenue, 24 and 28 W. Hinsdale Avenue, and 36 E. Hinsdale Avenue.  The 
structure now at 40 E. Hinsdale Avenue replaced an automobile dealership building. None of these 
structures is architecturally significant. 
 
GOVERNMENT BUILDINGS 

 
The first government buildings in Hinsdale were built within the commercial core south of the railroad tracks. 
However, as the town grew and so did the need for larger government service quarters, newer facilities 
were built on former residential estates on the north side of the tracks. In 1927, the Hinsdale Memorial 
Building, which later housed the Village Hall and Library, was built on a large site at 19 E. Chicago Avenue, 
and in 1940 a new Post Office was built at 109 Symonds Drive. A new Police Station was built within the 
historic downtown core in 1935 but was replaced in 1969 with a Police Station north of the tracks at 121 

Symonds Drive. A Fire Station was also 
built in 1969 at 123 Symonds Drive, 
completing the government services complex 
north of the railroad tracks. The Hinsdale 
Memorial Building, Post Office, and 1935 
Police Station (now the Hinsdale Bank and 
Trust) are ranked significant in this survey. 
The Memorial Building is a local landmark, 
and both it and the Post Office may also be 
individually eligible for listing on the National 
Register of Historic Places.  There is one 
other government building in the survey area, 
the Hinsdale Middle School at 100 S. 
Garfield Street, built in 1976 and ranked 
non-contributing. 

 

Hinsdale Memorial Building 
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Major governmental buildings were often built 
in architectural high styles and their designs 
expressed the monumentality of government. 
The Hinsdale Memorial Building is an 
impressive building in the Georgian Revival 
style, sited atop a hill overlooking the railroad 
station and Downtown Hinsdale. The two-
story structure is symmetrical with its principal 
façade facing south across a large lawn. This 
facade is dominated by a two-story, 
projecting portico with pediment. Entrance to 
the building is actually on the north façade, 
which has a circular drive enclosed by side 
wings to the main structure built in 1957 and 

the 1990s. The original structure has a side gabled slate roof with matching end chimneys, and a three-tiered 
cupola/clock tower in the center. Other Georgian Revival features include the cornice with dentils, the 
rounded dormers, and the multi-light windows. The architect of the Memorial Building was Edwin H. Clark. 
The surrounding grounds are a simplified version of a master plan for a civic center by George Maher & 
Son, Architects and Town Planners, who recommended the Georgian Revival style for the Memorial 
Building.  
 
The U.S. Post Office at 109 Symonds Drive is another handsome building in the Georgian Revival style. 
One story, and simpler than the Memorial Building, it too is symmetrical with a projecting central entry bay 
with pediment. An arched stone relief panel within the pediment has an eagle and banner inscribed with 
“United States Post Office.”  Atop the hipped, slate roof is a wood cupola. Windows are double hung, 
multi-light. Architect for the structure was Louis A. Simon.   
 

The former Police and Fire Station at 25 E. First Street was 
also designed in a Classical-based style, in this case 
Colonial Revival. Designed by Philip Duke West and built in 
1935, it housed those municipal functions until they moved 
north of the tracks to Symonds Drive in 1969. The structure 
has an upright portion with a front-facing gable, and an 
attached, two-story wing. The upright portion has a classical 
front entry surround with broken pediment, fluted pilasters 
at the sides, and a frieze. The gable ends have cornice 
returns and the whole section is topped with a cupola. 
There were originally garage doors on the wing portion, but 

these were replaced with the decorative portico shielding display windows. The other windows are multi-
light, double hung sash with keystones. These are replacement windows. The structure has been ranked 

United States Post Office – 109 Symonds Drive  

 

25 E. First Street 
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              MEMORANDUM 

DATE:   February 24, 2023 

TO:   Chairman Bohnen and Historic Preservation Commissioners 

CC:  Kathleen A. Gargano, Village Manager 
Robb McGinnis, Director of Community Development/Building Commissioner 

FROM:   Bethany Salmon, Village Planner 

RE:  Case HPC-2-2023 – 225 E. First Street – Preliminary Application for a Certificate of 
Appropriateness to Demolish a Single-Family Home and to Construct a New Single-Family Home 
in the Robbins Park Historic District 

FOR: March 1, 2023 Historic Preservation Commission Meeting 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary 

The Village of Hinsdale has received a preliminary Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) application from H 
Harrison Development, LLC, the owner of the property, requesting preliminary approval to demolish an existing 
single-family home and to construct a new single-family home located at 225 E. First Street in the Robbins Park 
Historic District. The project architect is listed as Bruce George, Charles Vincent George Architects.  
 
Per the Village Code, no permits shall be issued for demolition or new construction of any structure located in a 
designated historic district without the rendering of a final decision by the Historic Preservation Commission on 
an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness.  
 
Background 
The existing single-family home at 225 E. First Street is a two and a half stories and was constructed circa 1900. 
The building features Colonial Revival architecture and includes white wood siding, ionic plasters, and pedimented 
dormers with dentil trim. A large addition was constructed on the east side of the house in 1989 and other 
alterations are noted on the historic survey sheet from 2002.   
 
The building is classified as a Contributing Structure in the Robbins Park Historic District according to the 2008 
National Register of Historic Places Nomination and Contributing according to the 2002 Architectural Resources 
in the Robbins I Survey Area.  
 
The subject property is located in the R-1 Single Family Residential District and is surrounded by single-family 
homes to the south, east and west in the R-1 Single Family Residential District. Single-family homes in the R-4 
Single Family Residential District are located to the north and east of the subject property.  
 
Request and Analysis 
The applicant requests approval to demolish the existing single-family home and construct a new code-compliant 
single family house on a lot measuring approximately 40,000 square feet in size. A site plan, interior floor plans, 
building elevations, renderings, and photos of the neighboring properties have been submitted for review.   
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              MEMORANDUM 

As shown on the preliminary plans, the two-story home appears to be constructed of white brick and various 
accent areas consisting of vertical siding and shake siding. The house includes a front driveway with two separate 
two-car attached garages and a one-story attached pool house. Bulk zoning requirements will be finalized and 
confirmed prior to scheduling this project for a formal Certificate of Appropriateness review. In addition to the 
final design, the applicant will also confirm all building material and color selections. 
 
Process 
In accordance with Section 14-5-4, the purpose of a Preliminary Application for a Certificate of Appropriateness 
Review is to broadly acquaint the Historic Preservation Commission with the applicant's proposal and to provide 
the applicant with any preliminary views or concerns. At the meeting at which the preliminary application is 
considered, any member of the commission may make any comments, suggestions or recommendations 
regarding the preliminary application deemed necessary or appropriate by that member; provided, however, that 
no recommendation shall be made, and no final or binding action shall be taken, with respect to any preliminary 
application by the Commission. Any views expressed in the course of the Commission's review of any preliminary 
application shall be deemed to be only preliminary and advisory and only the individual views of the member 
expressing them. Nothing said or done in the course of such review shall be deemed to create, or to prejudice, 
any rights of the applicant or to obligate the Commission, or any member of it, to approve or deny any formal 
application following full consideration thereof as required by this Title.  
 
Pursuant to Title 14, Section 14-5-1(B), no alteration shall be allowed to, and no permits shall be issued for, the 
alteration, demolition, signage, or any other physical modifications of the exterior architectural appearance of any 
structure, building, site, or area located in a designated historic district without the rendering of a final decision 
by the Historic Preservation Commission on an application for a certificate of appropriateness. The final decision 
of the Historic Preservation Commission shall be advisory only. 
 
Applications for a Certificate of Appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards set forth in Village Code 
Title 14, Section 14-5-2, which are attached for review. 
 
Attachments 
1. Zoning Map and Project Location 
2. Aerial View  
3. Birds Eye View 
4. Robbins Park Historic District Map 
5. National Register of Historic Places Sheet  
6. Robbins Park I Architectural Resources Survey Sheet (2002) 
7. Certificate of Appropriateness Review Criteria - Village Code Title 14, Section 14-5-2  
8. Application for Certificate of Appropriateness and Exhibits 
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Aerial View – 225 E. First Street 
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Birds Eye View – 225 E. First Street 
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Robbins Park Historic District 
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CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS REVIEW CRITERIA  
VILLAGE CODE TITLE 14, SECTION 14-5-2 
 
14-5-2: CRITERIA: 

All applications for a certificate of appropriateness shall conform to the applicable standards in this 
section. 
 
A. General Standards: 

1. Alterations that do not affect any essential architectural or historic features of a structure or 
building as viewed from a public or private street ordinarily should be permitted. 

2. The distinguishing original qualities or character of a structure, building, or site and its 
environment should not be destroyed. No alteration or demolition of any historic material or 
distinctive architectural feature should be permitted except when necessary to assure an 
economically viable use of a site. 

3. All structures, buildings, sites, and areas should be recognized as products of their own time. 
Alterations that have no historical basis and that seek to create an earlier appearance than the 
true age of the property are discouraged. 

4. Changes that may have taken place in the course of time are evidence of the history and 
development of a structure, building, or site and its environment. These changes may have 
acquired significance in their own right, and this significance should be recognized and 
respected when dealing with a specific architectural period. 

5. Distinctive stylistic features or examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a structure, 
building, site, or area should ordinarily be maintained and preserved. 

6. Deteriorated architectural features should be repaired rather than replaced, whenever possible. 
In the event replacement is necessary, the new material should match the material being 
replaced in composition, design, color, texture, and other visual qualities. Repair or replacement 
of missing architectural features should be based on accurate duplications of features, 
substantiated by historic, physical, or pictorial evidence rather than on conjectural designs or the 
availability of different architectural elements from other buildings or structures. 

7. The surface cleaning of structures and buildings should be undertaken with the gentlest means 
possible. Sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will damage the structures and 
buildings should be avoided. 

8. New structures or buildings, or alterations to sites should not be discouraged when such 
structures or alterations do not destroy significant historical or architectural features and are 
compatible with the size, scale, color, material, and character of the site, neighborhood, or 
environment. 

9. Whenever possible, new structures or buildings, or alterations to the existing conditions of sites 
should be done in such a manner that, if such new structures or alterations were to be removed 
in the future, the essential form and integrity of the original structure, building, site, or area 
would be unimpaired. 

10. Any permitted alteration or demolition should promote the purposes of this Title and general 
welfare of the Village and its residents. 

11. Demolition should not be permitted if a structure, building, or site is economically viable in its 
present condition or could be economically viable after completion of appropriate alterations, 
even if demolition would permit a more profitable use of such site. 
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B. Design Standards: 

1. Height: The height of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with the height of the 
original landmark. The height of a structure or building and adjacent open spaces after any 
proposed alteration or construction within an historic district should be compatible with the style 
and character of the structure or building and with surrounding structures and buildings in an 
historic district. 

2. Relationship Between Mass And Open Space: The relationship between a landmark and 
adjacent open spaces after its alteration should be compatible with such relationship prior to 
such alteration. The relationship between a structure or building and adjacent open spaces after 
alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the relationship between 
surrounding structures, buildings and adjacent open spaces within such historic district. 

3. Relationship Among Height, Width And Scale: The relationship among the height, width, and 
scale of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with such relationship prior to such 
alteration. The relationship among height, width, and scale of a structure or building after an 
alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the relationship among height, 
width, and scale of surrounding structures and buildings within such historic district. 

4. Directional Expression: The directional expressions of a landmark after alteration, whether its 
vertical or horizontal positioning, should be compatible with the directional expression of the 
original landmark. The directional expression of a structure or building after alteration within an 
historic district should be compatible with the directional expression of surrounding structures 
and buildings within such historic district. 

5. Roof Shape: The roof shape of a landmark after alteration should be compatible with the roof 
shape of the original landmark. The roof shape of a structure, building, or object after alteration 
within an historic district should be compatible with the roof shape of surrounding structures and 
buildings within such historic district. 

6. Architectural Details, General Designs, Materials, Textures, And Colors: The architectural 
details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of a landmark after alteration should be 
compatible with the architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of the 
original landmark. The architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of a 
structure or building after alteration within an historic district should be compatible with the 
architectural details, general design, materials, textures, and colors of surrounding structures 
and buildings within such historic district. 

7. Landscape And Appurtenances: The landscape and appurtenances, including without limitation 
signs, fences, accessory structures, and pavings, of a landmark after alteration should be 
compatible with the landscape and appurtenances of the original landmark. The landscape and 
appurtenances of a structure or building after alteration within an historic district should be 
compatible with the landscape and appurtenances of surrounding structures and buildings 
within such historic district. 

8. Construction: New construction in an historic district should be compatible with the architectural 
styles, design standards and streetscapes within such historic districts. 

 

C. Additional Standards: In addition to the foregoing standards, the commission may consider the 
secretary of the interior's standards for rehabilitation guidelines for rehabilitating historic buildings 
(revised 1983), and any amendments thereto, in reviewing any application under this section.  
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VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION 

APPLICATION FOR CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS 
 
The undersigned (the "Applicant") hereby makes application pursuant to Title XIV of the Village 
Code of Hinsdale, as amended, for a Certificate of Appropriateness for the building, structure or 
site described below.  The Applicant certifies to the Village of Hinsdale that the following facts are 
true and correct: 
 
Address of Property under review:_________________________________________________ 
Property Identification Number: ___________________________________________________ 
 
I. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
1. Applicants Name: __________________________________________________________ 

Address: _________________________________________________________________ 
           _________________________________________________________________ 

Telephone Number: ________________________________________________________ 
 
2. Owner of Record (if different from applicant): _____________________________________ 
 Address: _________________________________________________________________ 
        ________________________________________________________________ 
 Telephone Number: ________________________________________________________ 
 
3. Others involved in project (include, name, address and telephone number): 
 Architect: _________________________________________________________________ 
                   ________________________________________________________________ 
 Attorney:  _________________________________________________________________ 
         ________________________________________________________________ 
 Builder:    _________________________________________________________________ 
         ________________________________________________________________ 

Engineer: _________________________________________________________________ 
         ________________________________________________________________ 
 
II. SITE INFORMATION 
 

1. Describe the existing conditions of the property:  __________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________ 

 
2. Property Designation: 
 
 Listed on the National Register of Historic Places? _____YES     ______NO 
 
 Listed as a Local Designated Landmark?     ________YES     ______NO 
 
 Located in a Designated Historic District?     ________YES  ______NO 
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3. Description of work proposed.  (Please submit a description of the proposed 
alterations and/or additions. Attach additional sheets, and photographs, as 
necessary). 

 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
 
4. Successive Applications.  Has all or any part of the property been the subject of 

another application for a Certificate of Appropriateness under Title XIV of the Village 
Code of Hinsdale within the last two years? 

  
______ No ______ Yes 
 
If yes, state the date of the formal hearing and a statement explaining any relevant 
evidence supporting, the reasons why the Applicant believes the Village should 
consider this application at this time, pursuant to Section 14-3-10 of the Village 
Code. _____________________________________________________________ 
 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 __________________________________________________________________ 
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It is the intent to demolish the existing residence in its  and construct a new approximately 9,342 sf. brick veneer and frame English Country Style residence with 4 car garage in courtyard configuration with pool, attached pool house and covered porch to fit within Village of Hinsdale Zoning Ordinance requirements. 
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VILLAGE OF HINSDALE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

19 East Chicago Avenue 
Hinsdale, Illinois  60521-3489 

630.789.7030 
 

Application for Certificate of Zoning Compliance 
 

You must complete all portions of this application.  If you think certain 
information is not applicable, then write “N/A.”  If you need additional 
space, then attach separate sheets to this form. 
 
Applicant’s name: ______________________________________________ 

Owner’s name (if different): ______________________________________________ 

Property address: ______________________________________________ 

Property legal description: [attach to this form] 

Present zoning classification:  

Square footage of property: ______________________________________________ 

Lot area per dwelling: ______________________________________________ 

Lot dimensions: ____ x ____ 

Current use of property: ______________________________________________ 

Proposed use:  Single-family detached dwelling 

  Other: ________________________________________ 

Approval sought:  Building Permit  Variation 

  Special Use Permit  Planned Development 
  Site Plan  Exterior Appearance 

  Design Review 

  Other: ________________________________________ 

  

Brief description of request and proposal: 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

 
Plans & Specifications: [submit with this form] 
 
 Provided: Required by Code: 
Yards: 

front: _________ _________ 
interior side(s) ____ /____ ____ /____ 
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Provided: Required by Code: 
 
corner side _________ _________ 
rear _________ _________ 

Setbacks (businesses and offices): 
front: _________ _________ 
interior side(s) ____ /____ ____ /____ 
corner side _________ _________ 
rear _________ _________ 
others: _________ _________ 
Ogden Ave. Center: _________ _________ 
York Rd. Center: _________ _________ 
Forest Preserve: _________ _________ 

Building heights: 
principal building(s): _________ _________ 
accessory building(s): _________ _________ 

Maximum Elevations: 
principal building(s): _________ _________ 
accessory building(s): _________ _________ 

Dwelling unit size(s): _________ _________ 

Total building coverage: _________ _________ 

Total lot coverage: _________ _________ 

Floor area ratio: _________ _________ 

Accessory building(s): ______________________________________________ 

Spacing between buildings: [depict on attached plans] 

principal building(s): _________ _________ _________ 
accessory building(s): _________ _________ _________ 

Number of off-street parking spaces required: _______ 
Number of loading spaces required: ________ 
 
Statement of applicant: 
 
I swear/affirm that the information provided in this form is true and complete.  I 
understand that any omission of applicable or relevant information from this form could 
be a basis for denial or revocation of the Certificate of Zoning Compliance. 
 
By: _______________________________ 
 Applicant’s signature 
 
 _______________________________ 
 Applicant’s printed name 
 
Dated: ___________________, 20___. 

bgozdziak
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Site Photo Documentation
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1. View from South on First Street
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Existing Proposed residence to be demolished: 225 E. First Street, Hinsdale, IL
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2.. View from Southeast on First Street
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3. View from Northeast from rear yard
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Site Photo Documentation (continued)
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4.. View from North from rear yard.
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5. View from Northwest from rear yard.
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Neighboring Residences Photo Documentation 
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6. View of 219 E. First from South on First Street
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7. View of 241 E. First from South on First Street
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8. View of 215 E. First from South on First Street
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9. View of 45 S. Garfield from South on First Street
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10. View of 244 E. First from North on First Street
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11. View of 230 E. First from North on First Street
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12. View of 218 E. First from North on First Street
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13. View of 212 E. First from North on First Street
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14. View of 107 S.Park Ave. from North on First Street
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15. View of 44 S. Elm Street from East on Elm Street
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16. View of 38 S. Elm Street from East on Elm Street.
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17. View of 30 S. Elm Street from East on Elm Street
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Neighboring Residences Photo Documentation 
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18. View of 24 S. Elm Street from East on Elm Street
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19. View of 18 S. Elm Street from East on Elm Street
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22. View of 230 E. Chicago Ave. from North on Chicago
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20. View of 14 S. Elm Street from East on Elm Street
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21. View of 10 S. Elm Street from East on Elm Street
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23. View of 222 E. Chicago Ave. from North on Chicago
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	Applicant's Name: Bruce George
	Owner's Name: Joseph Ghaben
	Property Address: 225 E 1st Street 
	Square Footage: 40,041.98 sq. ft.
	Lot Area Per Dwelling Unit: 6,264 sq. ft.
	Dimension One: 122.0
	Dimension 2: 328.40
	Current use of property: Single family residence
	Other: 
	Other2: 
	1: 51.29'
	2: 13.2'
	undefined: 23.3'
	1_2: 63.6'
	2_2: 13.5'
	undefined_2: 23.8'
	Zoning District: [R-1, Single Family Residential]
	Building Permit: Yes
	Special Use: Off
	Site Plan Review: Off
	Design Review: Off
	None: Off
	Variation: Off
	Planned Development: Off
	Exterior Appearance: Off
	Brief request: Demo existing single family residence and build a new single family residence.
	Single Family: Yes
	Other3: Off
	1_3: N/A
	2_3: 126.81'
	Setbacks businesses and offices: N/A
	undefined_3: N/A
	1_4: N/A
	2_4: N/A
	3: N/A
	4: N/A
	Ogden Ave Center 1: N/A
	Ogden Ave Center 2: N/A
	Ogden Ave Center 3: N/A
	principal buildings: 29.84'
	accessory buildings: N/A
	principal buildings_2: 39.40'
	accessory buildings_2: N/A
	Dwelling unit sizes: N/A
	Total building coverage 1: 5,212.14
	Total building coverage 2: 20,020.0
	Total building coverage 3: 9,190.67
	1_5: N/A
	2_5: 50.0'
	1_6: N/A
	2_6: N/A
	3_2: N/A
	4_2: N/A
	5: N/A
	6: N/A
	7: N/A
	8: N/A
	undefined_4: N/A
	1_7: 30'
	2_7: N/A
	1_8: 39.625'
	2_8: N/A
	1_9: N/A
	2_9: 10,010.5
	3_3: 20,020.99
	4_3: 10,009.3
	Accessory buildings: N/A
	Spacing between buildingsdepict on attached plans: N/A
	principal buildings_3: N/A
	accessory buildings_3: N/A
	undefined_5: N/A
	1_10: N/A
	2_10: N/A
	Number of offstreet parking spaces required: N/A
	Number of loading spaces required: N/A
	Applicants printed name: Bruce George
	Dated: February 3
	20: 23


